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NON-HOM ASSAULTS 1850-59
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/575, 05/01/1850

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT

Saturday 

JOSEPH LEARY was indicted for having, at Sydney, assaulted one ELLEN HARDEN, with intent to violate her person.  The prisoner was convicted of a common assault, and remanded for sentence.

RICHARD HOLLY was indicted for assaulting CATHERINE TAIT, at Newtown, on the 5th August last, with intent to violate her person.  Guilty; remanded for sentence.  Abridged from Herald.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/575, 05/01/1850

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT

Wednesday, January 2.

RICHARD HOLLY, who was convicted of assault with intent to commit a rape, was sentenced to two years’ imprisonment with hard labour, and then to enter into sureties to keep the peace.

JOHN LEARY, convicted of assault, was sentenced to nine months imprisonment with hard labour.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/588, 20/02/1850

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT

The following prisoners have been recently received in gaol for trial, but not stated whether for Circuit Court or Quarter Sessions:-  WILLIAM BRETT, rape; Scone Bench.  [see 8/593, 9th March]

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/592, 06/03/1850

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT

WILLIAM GILL was found guilty of indecently assaulting MARY ANN M’KILNEY, a child of eleven years of age.  Three years on the roads.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/593, 09/03/1850

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT

FRIDAY, MARCH 8, 1850

(Before his Honor Mr. Justice Therry)

ASSAULT.

WILLIAM BRETT was indicted for assaulting THOMAS HOLLINGSWORTH FOWLER, at Scone, on the 5th February, 1850.

[re removal of ELIZABETH FERRY, see later.]
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/593, 09/03/1850

WILLIAM BRETT, not guilty; two full columns.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/606, 24/04/1850

SYDNEY NEWS

An old fellow, apparently about sixty years of age, bearing the cognomen of CHARLES MACLEAN, was committed to-day to take his trial at the next Criminal Court for attempting to violate a female child between seven and eight years of age.  The outrage was committed in one of the stalls of the Market in George-street, into which the prisoner was seen to enter with the child in his arms.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/613, 18/05/1850

COMMITTALS.  -  THOMAS ALLEN was committed to take his trial for a rape on a young girl under twelve years of age.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/618, 05/06/1850

SYDNEY NEWS

THOMAS MOONEY, indicted for a rape, was found guilty of an assault with intent, &c.  Remanded for sentence.

THOMAS ALLEN, of Penrith, for an indecent assault, was sentenced to three years’ imprisonment with hard labour.

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT

The Supreme Court will sit in its criminal jurisdiction on Monday next.  … Of the cases now in the Calendar, there are … one of child stealing, … two of indecent assault, … and two of rape.  Herald, Jun. 1

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/619, 08/06/1850

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT

Tuesday, June 4

Before Mr. Justice Dickinson

GEORGE COOMBES was indicted for committing a rape on the person of MARY ANN ROSS, at Boyd Town, on the 23rd March last.  Not guilty; discharged.

CHARLES M’LEAN was indicted for indecently assaulting CATHERINE MILLS, a child eight years of age, on the 20th April last.  Guilty; three years on the roads.

INDECENT ASSAULT.  -  A man named EMELHAINZ, a naïve of Germany, was on Saturday given into custody by a person residing near the Circular Quay, for having indecently assaulted two female children, of the ages respectively of seven and four years.  The man, it would appear, induced the children, by the gift of some sweetmeats, and the promise of more, to go with him from the Circular Quay to the Inner Government Gardens, where the assault complained of took place.  The children were frightened and made a noise, when Emelhainz left them and secreted himself near the water; the children were found alone by a soldier, who kindly took them home; and subsequently their father, on hearing of the circumstances, went to look for, and discovered the miscreant, whom he secured and delivered to the police.  The girls, providentially, were not hurt in the slightest degree, and the magistrate declined taking any deposition from either, but ordered the prisoner to enter into sureties to be of good behaviour for twelve months, and in default to be imprisoned for one month.  Herald, June 4
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/621, 15/06/1850

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT

Wednesday, June 12.

Before the Chief Justice and Mr. Justice Dickinson.

THOMAS MOONEY, convicted of an assault upon a child, with intent to commit a rape, was sentenced to ten years on the roads.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/640, 21/08/1850

ATTEMPT AT RAPE.  -   At the police-office, on Tuesday last, JOHN BROWN, a ticket-of-leave holder, by the Mount Stuart Elphinstone, was committed to take his trial for assaulting the person of MARY MADDOX, a girl thirteen years of age, with intent to commit a rape.  The prosecutrix and prisoner were both in the service of a shoemaker, named HUMBY, at North Brisbane; and it appeared that some of the neighbours, hearing the girl scream, looked through a window, and saw sufficient amply to corroborate the statement of the girl, who swore positively to the attempted offence.  The prisoner was committed for trial, and the magistrates, at the request of the girl’s father, authorised her immediate removal from her service.  Moreton Bay Courier, Aug. 3

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/643, 31/08/1850

BATHURST CIRCUIT COURT

Before The Chief Justice

Friday, August 23rd
LACHLAN BYRNES was indicted for robbing and assaulting CATHERINE LAWLER, with intent to commit a rape.  The charge of robbery was abandoned.  The prisoner was found guilty, and sentenced to two years’ imprisonment, and then to enter into sureties to keep the peace for three years.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/644, 04/09/1850

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT

JAMES WARD was indicted for committing a rape on ANN TAILBY, at Cockfighter’s Creek, on the 11th December 1849.  The prisoner was undefended, but at the request of his Honor, Mr. PEARSON THOMPSON undertook to watch the case for the prisoner, and Mr. TURNER undertook to act as his attorney.  The prosecutrix, a married woman, the mother of seven children, deposed that she lived with her husband at Cockfighter’s Creek, where they had been eighteen years; her husband was away up the country at work from October, 1849, till February, 1850, and was now and again up the country; the prisoner was a labouring man, who had been for years working about Cockfighter’s Creek, and on the 11th December, in the evening, he came to tell her that her wheat was ripe, and to enquire if he should reap it for her; she said that she had hired another man to do so; at this time she was within two months of her confinement; the prisoner followed her about the home for a short time, and then first lifted a spade and then an iron as if to strike her, swearing he would have her life if she made any noise; he then insisted on her leaving her house with him, and he took her into a shed, and perpetrated the offence.  She deposed positively that this was against her will, although she made no resistance, from fear of her life.  There were houses near, but she would have had to call very loud to make any one hear.  On the next day she said she was unable to leave her house, to go to give information, and on the following day, the 13th, she was taken ill with cholera.

Long account, to be completed.

Not guilty.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/645, 07/09/1850

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT

(Before his Honor the Chief Justice)

Thursday, September 5, 1850

RAPE

JAMES WARD, ANN TAILBY, second trial; guilty of assault; three years imprisonment in Parramatta Gaol, with hard labour.

To be completed

INDECENT ASSAULT ON A CHILD.  -  PATRICK PURSELL was indicted for indecently assaulting ANN ROBERTSON, a child of six years of age, at Murrurrundi, on the 29th July, 1850.  The prisoner pleaded guilty.  He was remanded for a time, and was then sentenced to three years’ hard labour on the roads or public works.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/656, 16/10/1850

NEIGHBOURLY QUARRELS.  -  Yesterday two cases came before the bench, arising from an unfriendly feeling between neighbouring small settlers.  In the first case WILLIAM BAILEY was charged with assaulting ELIZABETH SPENCER, a little girl; … The first case was dismissed, there being no direct evidence except that of the little girl, who could not be examined.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/668, 27/11/1850

CHARGE OF INDECENTLY ASSAULTING A CHILD.  -  On Monday a man named WILLIAM CHRISTIE was brought before the bench, charged with indecently assaulting MARGARET HENRY, a girl of the age of four years.  MARGARET HENRY, the mother of the little girl, deposed that she returned home on Friday last, in the middle of the day, and going suddenly through the house to the back, she there found Christie and her little girl in a position she described, and she immediately attacked Christie.  Mrs. Henry was examined at some length as to what took place between herself and Christie on her making the discovery, and as to other details.  A witness named MICHAEL M’DONALD deposed to having seen a quarrel between Mrs. Henry and Christie in the street in front of their houses, that it was fully half an hour after she came home: witness was with Christie for two hours that morning, and he described what Christie had been employed about, and who had been with him.  The bench dismissed the case.

ASSAULTING A GIRL WITH INTENT.  -  JOHN BROWN was indicted for assaulting MARY MADDOCK, a girl under fourteen years of age, with intent to commit a rape, at Brisbane, on the 30th July.  The prisoner, a ticket-of-leave holder per Mount Stuart Elphinstone, was employed as a journeyman shoemaker in Brisbane, the girl being a servant in the same house.  The girl swore positively to the assault, and several other persons saw some portion of the prisoner’s conduct.  Guilty; five years on the roads.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 8/672, 11/12/1850

MOLONG, NOVEMBER 29.  -  An aboriginal native, known by the name of LONG PETER, was apprehended on a charge of rape on a woman named ELEMS, of Buree; after knocking the poor woman down with a blow from a stone on the back of the head, and it is said effected his purpose, he cruelly assaulted her, and inflicted a severe wound on her head.  We understand that three more charges of the same nature will be preferred against him.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/680, 08/01/1851

MAITLAND QUARTER SESSIONS.

WOUNDING WITH INTENT.  -  THOMAS LAMB was indicted for wounding FRANCES JOHNSON on the fore part of the throat, at Maitland, on the 8th December, 1850, with intent to do her bodily harm.

   The witnesses called were JAMES COLLINS, BENJAMIN THOMAS, FRANCES JOHNSON, and ALFRED MUNDEN.
   Lamb and Mrs. Johnson were engaged to be married, and on Sunday, the 8th December, they went together to the house of Collins, in East Maitland; some liquor was sent for, and after some time Mrs. Johnson went into the bedroom, and laid down on the bed, being quite overcome; SARAH WHITTY, Collins’s housekeeper, was also laying on the bed; Mrs. Johnson then called Lamb to come and take her gown off, and Lamb did so, with Collins’s consent; Lamb afterwards asked him to let him go in and rouse up Mrs. Johnson to take her home; he went in, and Collins heard him saying “Fanny, get up and go home,” after his saying this several times there was silence, and Collins then heard Mrs. Johnson saying “no, no”; Collins rose and pushed open the door and saw Lamb coming out, and noticed blood on his hands, he having a knife in his hand, cutting tobacco; on looking towards the bed Collins saw that Mrs. Johnson was bleeding from a wound under her chin, and he immediately seized Lamb, who had left the room, and accused him of cutting Mrs. Johnson’s throat; Lamb said he knew nothing of it; Collins gave Lamb in charge to Thomas, who had been sitting with them, but Lamb afterwards bolted from him, knocking him down; Collins went for a doctor, and brought in Mr. Munden, an apothecary, who found it very difficult to stop the bleeding; Collins then went for Dr. BROWN, who sewed up the wound.  The next morning Lamb came to the house, and had some conversation from the outside with Mrs. Johnson, who told Lamb he had cut her throat; Lamb expressed his sorrow at what he had done, or at seeing her lying in that way, Collins was not certain which.  Thomas gave a somewhat similar account to Collins’s of what he saw, except that he said he could see Lamb and Mrs. Johnson from where he sat; he saw Lamb had a little knife in his hand, but did not see him do anything with it.  Mfrs. Johnson could just remember Lamb coming to tell her it was time to go home, and her refusing; Lamb was cutting up tobacco at the moment; she remembered nothing further till she found herself all bloody; she knew nothing of the doctor’s having been there; when Lamb came on the following day she did not say a word to him about her throat, nor he to her; her chin was all well the following day; she still intended to keep her promise of marriage to Lamb.  Mr. Munden, when he saw Mrs. Johnson, found her bleeding profusely from a wound under her chin, inflicted by some sharp instrument, the wound being about an inch in length, and a quarter of an inch in depth; it had cut a blood vessel, and it proved very difficult to stop the bleeding; she must have bled to death had not the bleeding been stopped. 

   In defence, Lamb said he was not guilty, that he knew nothing of how the wound was caused.
   The jury recalled Mr. Munden, who said the wound might have been caused by a fall against or on some sharp edge, but his opinion was that it was not done by a fall, but by a sharp instrument.

   The jury, after some consideration, returned a verdict of guilty of assault.  The prisoner was sentenced to six months’ imprisonment, with hard labour.
INDECENT ASSAULT ON A CHILD.

WILLIAM SIMMONDS was indicted for indecently assaulting SARAH GILBERT, a child of nine years old, at Newcastle, on the 9th October, 1850.

   The witnesses were MARY GILBERT (the mother), MARY ANN HUGHES, and HENRY HUGHES.  Mrs. Gilbert is the wife of William Gilbert, a miner, living in New castle, and is the mother of four children, Sarah, nine years old, a girl of seven years old, a boy of four years old, and an infant.  On the afternoon of the 9th October the children were playing together, when the prisoner, a stranger to them, came up, threw a half-penny to the eldest, and told the two younger ones to go away; he then acted as the little girl described to the jury.  Mrs. Gilbert heard her daughter call out “Mother,” and looking out she saw her daughter and the prisoner together, and she called to her to come home; Sarah then came home, and showed her mother the halfpenny, and told her what had occurred.  Mrs. Hughes, the wife of a policeman, at Newcastle, saw the prisoner and the little girl together, and afterwards saw the prisoner lying down on the ground behind the stockade, in liquor; her husband sent him out of the yard.  Constable Hughes apprehended the prisoner on the day following in a public-house; witness had turned him out of the stockade on the evening previous.

   In defence the prisoner said he was drinking from the Saturday evening till the day on which he was apprehended, and knew nothing of what he was doing in the interval.

   The jury returned a verdict of guilty.  The prisoner was sentenced to twelve months’ hard labour on the roads or public works.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/684, 22/01/1851

SERIOUS CHARGE.  -  Mr. WILLIAM JENNINGS, cutler, George-street, was on Saturday placed in the dock at the Water Police-office, before Captain Browne, to answer a charge of rape, alleged to have been committed by him on the person of one CATHERINE COX, an orphan immigrant girl, about fourteen years of age, who was at the time in the prisoner’s service.  Mr. Robert Johnson conducted the prosecution on the part of the Immigration Board, and Mr. G.R. Nicholls attended for the prisoner.  After a minute investigation, which occupied a considerable portion of three days, the prisoner was committed to take his trial on the capital charge, but the medical evidence was so far in his favor that the bench admitted him to bail.  Bell’s Life, Jan. 18

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/687, 01/02/1851

SYDNEY NEWS.  

COMMITTALS.  -  WILLIAM ADAMS was this day committed to take his trial for an attempt to commit an unnatural crime.

ASSAULTING WITH INTENT.  -  BERNARD COYLE, aged about fourteen, was yesterday committed to take his trial for assaulting with intent, &c., one HANNAH HOOPER, at Waverley, on the 6th of the present month.  Herald, Jan. 29

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/690, 12/02/1851

COMMITTAL FOR PERJURY.  -  A female named MARY ANN JOHNSON was this day committed on a charge or perjury, resulting from the evidence she gave last week against the present complainant, one PATRICK FREEMAN, whom she then charged with a rape.  From the testimony brought forward today it appeared that Freeman could not possibly have been where she stated at the time the offence was alleged to have been committed.

GOULBURN CIRCUIT COURT.

SAMUEL ROLF was indicted for committing an unnatural crime, at Gundagai, in December.  Guilty of assault; sentenced to hard labour on the roads.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/691, 15/02/1851

PERJURY.  -  It will be recollected that on Thursday last a person named FREEMAN, residing at Petersham, was brought before the police bench, at the instance of a woman named JOHNSON, who charged him with having at or about four o’clock in the afternoon of Saturday, the 1st February, entered her residence, she being at the time ill in bed, and then and there did forcible ravish and carnally know her.  The case was at once dismissed by the presiding justice, after the prosecutrix had been cross-examined by Mr. Nichols.  An information was instantly made against the woman for wilful and corrupt perjury, the hearing of which came on before Mr. Dowling yesterday.  It was shown by Mr. Freeman that he was in Sydney on the day in question, and did not return home until five o’clock in the afternoon – that he did not see the woman at all on that day.  Several other witnesses were called, whose evidence showed that from ten until four on that day Freeman was in Sydney – that until at least a late hour in the evening it was impossible that he could have been at the residence of Johnson.  She was therefore committed to take her trial for the offence at the next sitting of the Criminal Court.  Herald, Feb. 11

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/692, 19/02/1851

ASSAULT AND ALLEGED RAPE.  -  The charge of alleged rape preferred by CATHERINE DUNN, an Irish orphan immigrant, against her master, EDWARD DAVIES, was yesterday dismissed.  There is too much reason to believe from the evidence, which is of course unfit for publication, that the entire charge is a fabrication; but what could have induced the girl to such a course of conduct is altogether inexplicable.  Application was made to the bench by Mr. Nichols, on behalf of the accused, for a copy of the depositions, which was granted on the usual terms.  These ulterior proceedings may probably throw more light on the matter than has yet transpired.  Herald, Feb. 15

CUTTING AND MAIMING.  -  On Friday last, a murderous attack was made upon a man named HENRY CAMPBELL, by MATTHEW ADLAM, a small settler residing near Rainham, about five miles from Bathurst.  It appears, Adlam had left home on Thursday with a team, intending to be absent some few days, but being haunted with suspicions of his wife’s fidelity, he left his team at Calula, and returned unexpectedly on Friday.  On reaching his house, he saw Campbell at a short distance with his (Adlam’s) wife, and he watched them for a considerable time, until at last losing all self-control, he rushed upon them with a large knife in his hand; Campbell was making away, but he ran after him and stabbed him behind, wounding him also severely on the hand; he then aimed a stroke at his throat, missing which he inflicted a most terrific gash on the lower part of his face.  Campbell was the next morning conveyed to hospital in a cart.  The chief constable, accompanied by constable FINNERTY, followed in the track of Adlam, who had absconded, and succeeded in effecting his capture on Saturday afternoon, at a place called Bartlett’s, about fifteen miles from Bathurst.  Bathurst Correspondent of the Herald

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/693, 22/02/1851

HUNTER RIVER DISTRICT NEWS.  -  SI NGLETON.

COMMITTAL FOR RAPE.  -  Yesterday (Tuesday) a man named JAMES BUTLER was fully committed to take his trial for committing a rape on the wife of THOMAS SAUNDERS, of Singleton; the woman is about sixty years of age, and swore that on Friday evening last the prisoner came to her house during her husband’s absence, and went into her bedroom; she went in after him to order him out, when he threw her on the bed, and violated her person, threatening her if she resisted to knock her down with an axe; her husband shortly afterwards came in, and asked who was in the bedroom, when she stated what had happened.  The prisoner was then given into custody; he is about half the age of the woman, and a married man.  Bail was refused.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/694, 26/02/1851

BATHURST CIRCUIT COURT. -  Wednesday, Feb. 19

MATTHEW ADLAM was indicted for feloniously stabbing HENRY CAMPBELL, at Rainham, on the 7th February, with intent to do grievous bodily harm.  Campbell and Adlam’s wife were on such intimate terms during Adlam’s absence, which frequently happened, that he heard of it, and threatened them both; one day he left his home, but returned and found his wife and Campbell conversing together, as Campbell stated, and ran at Campbell with a knife, and overtaking him wounded him with the knife and with a razor.  He afterwards, when apprehended, expressed a strong wish that he had killed Campbell.  Adlam in defence admitted the wounding, but said he found his wife and Campbell lying together on a mattress, when he rushed on them.  Adlam received a good character from Mr. Lane, his former master, and it was stated that Mrs. Adlam had told Mr. and Mrs. Lane that she intended to leave her husband and live with another man.  Guilty, but strongly recommended to mercy; three months’ imprisonment.

THURSDAY, February 20.  -  PETER, an aboriginal, previously convicted of rape, was sentenced to death.

PERJURY.  -  CATHERINE DUNN, the Irish orphan who a few days since preferred a charge of rape against her master, Mr. E.S. DAVIES, of York-street, but which was dismissed, was yesterday committed to take her trial for wilful and corrupt perjury.  The evidence adduced, besides the deposition of Davies himself, was to the effect that on the evening in question Mr. Davies was in the company of other persons for hours, both before and after the time at which Dunn swore that her master committed the alleged outrage upon her person.  Herald, Feb. 20
BATHURST CIRCUIT COURT.  Monday, February 17th
MICHAEL DILLON was indicted for indecently assaulting JANE ELIZABETH OXLEY, a child of four years old, at Big Hill, on the 18th November.  Guilty; three years on the roads.

Tuesday, February 18th.

PETER, an aboriginal, was indicted for having committed a rape on DIANA ELMES, at Cheeseman’s Creek, on the 18th November, 1850.  The case was clearly proved by the prosecutrix, who had been inveigled out of the hut by the prisoner, under the pretence that some of the sheep were in the creek.  She was then knocked down by him, and the offence committed, she being in a state of insensibility; she has been married about seven years, and has four children, the youngest being about ten months old.  Other witnesses corroborated her testimony in part.  The prisoner denied having committed the crime.  Guilty; remanded for sentence. 
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/695, 01/03/1851

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 25.

(Before his Honor the Chief Justice)

INDECENT ASSAULT. 
WILLIAM ADAMS was indicted for assaulting JAMES MOUNTAIN, a boy of fourteen or fifteen years, at Sydney, on the 27th January, with intent, &c.  Guilty; two years’ imprisonment.

(Before Mr. Justice Dickinson)

RAPE.

WILLIAM JENNINGS was indicted for having, on the 6th January, violated one CATHERINE COX.  The details are unfit for publication.  The evidence, owing to the inconsistencies of the statement of the prosecutrix, was of a very contradictory nature.  Messrs. Foster and Holroyd appeared for the defence, and called witnesses to rebut the evidence of the prosecutrix.  The jury retired about half-past five o’clock, and remained locked up all night.

THE SYDNEY MORNING HERALD.

MONDAY, MARCH 3, 1851.

-------------------------------------

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.

SATURDAY.

   Before their HONORS the THREE JUDGES.

THE QUEEN v. BERNARD COYLE.

   The prisoner (a youth of twelve) had been indicted for an indecent assault on a girl seven years of age, and had been found guilty of a common assault.

   There had upon this been a reservation for the opinion of the Judges as to whether this verdict did not amount, in effect, to an acquittal.

   The CHIEF JUSTICE stated that, on considering this case, a point had arisen which must, in their opinion, invalidate the conviction; but owing to a recent change in the law, they were compelled to go through the form of passing a sentence, with a full knowledge that it would not be carried out.

   Mr. Justice DICKINSON sentenced the boy to six weeks’ imprisonment in Sydney Gaol, and at the end of that period to find sureties for his good behaviour.

   His Honor then proceeded to state the question which had arisen.  The verdict of common assault, although under the circumstances an most extraordinary one, was one which might have been returned under such an indictment.  There was, however, some evidence of assent on the part of the girl, and the absence of assent was necessary to warrant a verdict for common assault.  The Jury had also been expressly told that, in considering as to whether the boy had been guilty of an indecent assault or not, they need not enter at all upon the question.  It must be assumed, therefore, that the question of assent, which they ought to have determined before finding this verdict, had not been taken into consideration at all.

   As the evidence in this case went solely to the establishment of a very indecent assault---amounting almost to the perpetration of a capital offence.  The attention of the Jury had only been drawn by the learned Judge to the question whether an indecent assault had been committed, or whether the whole evidence must be disbelieved.

   The Crown Law Officers, although admitting the absurdity of the verdict, contended that it was one which might be sustained, inasmuch as the Jury might have taken the decision of the law into their own hands, and might have based their verdict upon the evidence as to a subsequent withdrawal of consent.

   Their HONORS, however, were of opinion that the point was a fatal one, and that the conviction must be set aside.  They were bound to assume that the Jury had wholly abstained from considering the question of assent, as they had been told that this was not an ingredient in the case, for the learned Judge would not have contemplated the possibility of a verdict of common assault under these circumstances.  

   The Court, therefore, directed the necessary steps to be taken for the immediate discharge of the prisoner.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/696, 05/03/1851

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  -  Sentences.

BERNARD COYLE, the boy of twelve found guilty of a common assault on a girl seven years of age, was sentenced to six weeks’ imprisonment by Mr. Justice Dickinson, but the conviction was afterwards set aside by their Honors, on the ground that the verdict of the jury was, under the circumstances of the case, tantamount to an acquittal, and the boy was ordered to be discharged forthwith.

Gaol delivery.

The prisoners Tommy (an aboriginal) committed for stealing in a dwelling-house, and JOHN WORTHY, committed for rape, both from the Clarence River, were discharged by proclamation.  The discharge of the former was occasioned by the impossibility of procuring an interpreter; that of the latter from the omission of the bench to transmit the depositions, which had been sent back by the Attorney General for further evidence – or even to return any answer to his requisition for further investigation.

(Before his Honor Mr. Justice Therry)

CATHERINE DUNN was found guilty of having committed perjury on the 12th February, by swearing that EDWARD S. DAVIES had violated her person against her will, and was sentenced to three years’ imprisonment with hard labour. Abridged from the Herald. 

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT.  

RAPE.  -  JAMES BUTLER was indicted for committing a rape on WYNN SAUNDERS, against her will, at Singleton, on the 14th February, 1851.

   Mr. Purefoy appeared for the defence; attorney Mr. C. Nicholl.

   The witnesses called were WYNN SAUNDERS, THOMAS SAUNDERS, and SAMUEL HORNE.  Wynn Saunders, am elderly woman, the wife of Thomas Saunders, a sawyer, residing at Singleton, was alone in her house on he evening of a Friday, when prisoner came in between seven and eight o’clock; she told him to go away, that she expected her husband home; prisoner went inside her bed-room, and she followed him in, and gold him to be off, that he had no business in her bed-room at all; he seized her, and offered her a shilling; she refused to take it; he threatened her life on her resisting, and effected his purpose, against her will; she was so frightened at his threats that she was not abler to call out; the nearest neighbour lived twenty or thirty yards off, and could have heard her had she cried out loud; they remained nearly half an hour in the bedroom; she had been out of the bed-room nearly half an hour, sitting down, when her husband came home; she did not see her husband till he came within the kitchen door; her husband saw that the bed-room door was shut, and heard some one inside, and he asked who was there; she said it was Butler, but did not say what had passed; her husband told her to go for the constables; she left the house, and heard the window of the bedroom forced out, and she went into a neighbour’s house, being frightened; her husband went for the chief constable, Mr. HORNE; she was afraid, and stayed at the neighbour’s all night, as her husband had knocked her down because she did not go quick enough for the constables.  In cross-examination Mrs. Saunders admitted she drank some glasses that day, but she knew what she was about; she was a little drunk but not stupid; she repeated distinctly that she was out of the bedroom half an hour before her husband came in; her husband was in such a way that she had not time to tell him what had passed before he sent her for the constables.  She was closely cross-examined as to all the circumstances, and said she was about fifty-six years old.  Thomas Saunders, who had been working that day about four miles from Singleton, had been away from home since the Monday morning, but returned on the Friday evening, having finished his job; he got home about eight o’clock, and pout down his saw, having seen at that time no one in the house; as he turned round from putting down the saw he saw his wife standing in front of him, and hearing a noise in the bedroom he asked who was there;  his wife said it was Butler; he asked her to give him the light; at this moment the bed-room door was slapped to; he tried to shove the door open, but after opening it a little, it was forcibly closed again, jamming his fingers; he prized the door open with the axe and released his fingers, and then  forced the door open; he heard the window smash, and running round the house he saw the prisoner jumping out from the window, and made a blow at him; prisoner then ran across the paddock; when he asked his wife for a light, she was not quick enough, being too much in liquor; he hit her with the stick; she ran off, saying she would lay her complaint to Mr. Horne; the complaint was not against witness for striking herm, but she said it was against Butler for forcing his way into the bed-room; witness ran for Mr. Horne, and passed his wife on the green, going there; his wife did not return home that night, but stopped at a neighbour’s place; the next morning she told witness all that had passed between Butler and herself.  In cross-examination witness described the kitchen as a room about 12 x 14; there were two doors opening from it, one into the bed-room, and one into the skillion; when witness was putting down the door his side was to the bed-room door; witness had many time seen his wife the worse for liquor before, and had corrected he for it.  Mr. HORNE, chief constable of Singleton, apprehended prisoner on a charge of assaulting Mrs.  Saunders; witness went to Mrs. Saunders after her husband had been to him, and Mrs. Saunders told witness that Butler had been to her house, and assaulted her, and threw her on the bed; in answer to witness’s queries she said more [it was here ruled that these answers could not be given, prisoner not being present]; witness afterwards apprehended prisoner at his own place, less than a quarter of a mile from Saunders’s, and told prisoner that he apprehended him ion a charge of assaulting and committing a rape on Mrs. Saunders; prisoner said he had not been to her place; prisoner was sitting with his wife at the time.  In cross-examination Mr. Horne said he had seen Mrs. Saunders drunk more than once, and she had been punished for it at the police-officer; she was not what witness considered a disorderly person.
   Mr. Purefoy addressed the jury for the defence.  This was a case that particularly called for the jury to judge of the credibility of the evidence of Mrs. Saunders, on whose testimony alone the charge rested, as regarded the alleged rape; without adverting to the age of Mrs. Saunders, or her appearance, as rendering her a probable object for such an outrage, was it credible that under the circumstances detailed by herself such a crime could have been committed at such an hour, without the knowledge  of her neighbours, at the time or immediately afterwards, unless she were a consenting part.  Did not the evidence of her husband bear out the supposition that she remained voluntarily in the bedroom with Butler, and only left the room when she heard her husband come in?  He contended that the jury could not possibly come to the conclusion that she was even assaulted by Butler, but must believe that everything that took place did so with her own consent.

   His Honor, in summing up, told the jury that the material question for them was whether or not Wynn Saunders was ravaged by the prisoner, and whether it took place against her will.  He went carefully through the evidence, calling the attention of the jury to the material points for their consideration.  If they thought there was a reasonable doubt on the whole, or any part of the charge, they would acquit the prisoner, or if the doubted the commission of rape, but believed there had been an assault, they could find the prisoner guilty of assault only.

   The jury retired for a quarter of an hour, and returned with a verdict of not guilty.  Butler was then discharged.

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  -  Wednesday, February 26

(Before his Honor Mr. Justice Dickinson)

In the case of WILLIAM JENNINGS, charged with rape, the jury, who had been locked up for the night, returned with a verdict of not guilty in favour of the prisoner as to the capital offence.  As to the assault, however, the jury was equally divided; but their discharge without a verdict was assented to by the Crown.  The prisoner also was then discharged.

   BERNARD COYLE,  a boy about twelve years of age, was indicted for having at Waverley, on the 8th of January last, indecently assaulted one HANNAH HOOPER, aged seven years.  The assault was distinctly sworn to both by the girl herself and by another female child about the same age.  The jury, however, found a verdict of not guilty in the prisoner’s favour, but convicted him of a common assault.  His Honor received the verdict, but stated his intention to consult his brother Judges, as to whether, under the circumstances, it did not amount to a verdict of not guilty.  The prisoner was remanded.  
Friday, February 28

MARY ANN JOHNSON was indicted for perjury, in having, on the 6th February, deposed that PATRICK FREEMAN had violated her person.  Freeman deposed that at the time she named he was not near her hut, but was in company with other men, returning from Sydney homewards; he was never inside her hut, shere she swore the offence was committed.  Other witnesses corroborated this statement, and Johnson’s deposition at the Police-office was proved.  Guilty; to be transported for seven years.

(Before Mr. Justice Therry)

CHARLES CRANE was indicted for indecently assaulting MARIA WOOD, a child of three years old, at Sydney, on the 4th February.  Guilty; three years on the roads.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/697, 08/03/1851

SYDNEY NEWS.  -  COMMITTALS.  -  WILLIAM SHAW and MARGARET his wife were this day committed to take their trial for a violent assault committed on one JENNINGS, as reported in this morning’s S.M. Herald.

VIOLENT ASSAULT.  -  WILLIAM SHAW, and CATHERINE, his wife, were yesterday placed in the dock, charged by one CHARLES JENNINGS with having violently assaulted him.  The prosecutor deposed that about four o’clock on Tuesday afternoon he was proceeding along Castlereagh-street with a horse in charge, when he was met by the male prisoner, who struck him with a tub he was carrying; about two hours afterwards he was at home, in Castlereagh-street, and while engaged in the yard putting up his fowls, the two prisoners came into the yard; before he had time to speak to them or to ask what they wanted, he was attacked by them – the man in front striking him with his fists – the woman behind beating his head with a brick; in the scuffle he received a blow in the eye which knocked him down; he fell into a tub; the woman then called out, “Now, kill him, Bill;” the man said, “You -----, now I’ll kill you,” and threw a stone (produced in court – about the size of a 4 lb. loaf),  which just passed his head, but struck his shoulder; heard some one from the other side of the street call out, “Don’t kill the man; and “Go for a constable;” he became insensible for a few minutes, and when he came to a female was washing his head; after this saw the male prisoner, and pointed him out to constable EAGAN, who apprehended him.  (The woman was amongst the spectators in court at the commencement of the case – and had obtained a summons against Jennings for an alleged assault upon her; she was pointed out to the bench by the prosecutor, and Mr. Dowling ordered her to be taken into custody and placed with her husband in the dock).  Dr. DOUGLASS had been attending him.  By the bench: Shaw said nothing either when he struck witness with the tub, or on the subsequent occasion, before he struck.  Cross-examined by Mr. REDMAN: Have known the prisoner for some years, but until Tuesday had not seen him for about two years; might possibly have struck a blow at Shaw with one hand in self-defence, but as the woman held him (witness) by one arm, while she was beating his head with a brick, he had not the opportunity of squaring up to her husband in a fighting attitude; did call out for assistance to get rid of the woman that he might defend himself against the man; the woman had asked him for money which she said he owed her; he did not call her any names on that occasion, nor strike, nor offer to strike her, before he was attacked as described; could not say but she might have received a blow in the scuffle.  The further hearing of the case was then postponed to this morning.  Herald, March 6 
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/702, 26/03/1851

PETER THE ABORIGINAL NATIVE.  -  This unhappy man, who was convicted at the late Assizes of rape, and sentenced to death, has been ordered for execution on Friday, the 4th day of April.  Herald’s Bathurst Correspondent

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/704, 02/04/1851

EXECUTION.  -  We understand that the execution of PETER, the blackfellow – convicted at the last Bathurst Assizes of rape – has been postponed from the 4th to the 18th of April.  Herald, March 29
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/705, 05/04/1851

RAPE.  -  FRANCIS JAMES ROBERTS, late master of the ketch Gitana, was yesterday arrested on a charge of assaulting one REBECCA COULTER, of Brisbane Water, with intent to commit a capital offence.  Empire, April 1
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/706, 09/04/1851

PUNISHMENT OF DEATH FOR RAPE.  -  The Supreme Court was occupied on Saturday in hearing an argument raised by Messrs. PUREFOY, WRIXON, and SMYTH, in favour of PETER, an aboriginal sentenced to be executed for rape.  It was contended that the punishment of death for rape having been abolished in England could not be carried into effect here, but their Honors were unanimously of opinion that the objection was untenable, and that the sentence was a legal one.  The case came on for argument on a letter from the Colonial Secretary requesting their Honors to give an opinion on the point, which had been strongly urged on the government.  Herald, April 7

THE SYDNEY MORNING HERALD.

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 9, 1851.

SUPREME COURT.---SATURDAY.

BEFORE the FULL COURT.

REGINA v. PETER (AN ABORIGINAL.)

  This case came before the Court on a letter of the Colonial Secretary, seeking the opinion of the Court, as to whether or not the crime of rape is punishable with death in this colony.

   Mr. Purefoy, Mr. Wrixon, and Mr. Smyth, appeared for the prisoner; the Attorney-General appeared for the Crown.

   Previously to the question being argued, Mr. WRIXON submitted to the Court that the information was bad, as the prisoner was too indefinitely described as “Peter, late of Molong, labourer;” and that the information should have concluded against the Statutes instead of against the Statute.

   The ATTORNEY-GENERAL opposed any question being argued except that upon which the Government required the opinion of the Court.

   The COURT decided that the argument, in the first place, should be confined to the question of the capital punishment for rape, but that it would consider the other questions afterwards.

   Mr. PUREFOY:  The question for the decision of the Court is, can the crime of rape be lawfully punished by death in this colony, and are the provisions of the Imperial Statute (4 and 5 Vic. c. 56, s. 3) in force in this colony?  The consideration of this question necessarily involves another, viz., whether the repeal by the Imperial Parliament of a statute in force in the colonies, necessarily extends to the colonies even though the latter are not expressly named.  Whenever the Imperial Parliament repeals one of its own enactments, it repeals that Act wherever it is in force, unless the contrary distinctly appears from the language of the repealing statute itself.  (Clarke’s Colonial Law, page 16 and 81.)

   Previous to the passing of the 9 Geo. IV. c. 31, (in 1828), the statute book of England was encumbered with various enactments respecting the crime of rape, extending over a period of 400 years, from the 13 Edward I. to Elizabeth.  By the 9 Geo. IV. c. 31, all these statutes were repealed, and  by the 16th section of this Act the crime of rape was declared to be a capital felony, punishable with death.  In the same session of Parliament was passed the 9 George IV. c.83 (commonly called the New South Wales Act); this Act declared in section 24, 

“that all Acts then in force in England should be in force in New South Wales, so far as the same could be applied in the administration of justice,”

Therefore the 9 George IV. c. 31, sec. 16, became the law of New South Wales, by virtue of 9 George IV, c. 83, and under this latter Act (and by this latter Act alone) could the crime of rape be dealt with and punished by death in New South Wales.

   Now it will not be disputed on the other side that the 9 George IV. c. 31, is no longer the law of England; the 4 and 5 Victoria, c. 56, c. 3, recites and in express terms repeals that statute, so far as it relates to the punishment of death, and yet no doubt: it will be contended by the Attorney-General that the provisions of the 4 and 5 Vic., c. 56, were not meant or intended to apply to New South Wales, or even if they were, that as the local legislature did not adopt that Act, therefore they are not bound by it.  It is submitted that this position cannot be maintained, and that the local legislature could not reject (even if they were so disposed) the provisions of the 4th and 5th Vic., c. 56, sec. 3; and for this reason, that the Charter of Justice and the statute 9 Geo. IV., c. 83, prohibits the Legislative Council of New South Wales from making laws inconsistent with or repugnant to the law of England, and therefore if the Legislative Council passed an Act, declaring that from the peculiar circumstances of the colony, it was not expedient to abolish the punishment of death for the crime of rape, could such an act receive the Royal assent while the 4th and 5th Victoria, c. 56, s. 3, stood on the Statute Book of England?  All laws made by the Legislative Council of New South Wales are still subject to Her Majesty’s approval.  How then can it for a moment be supposed that Her Majesty’s law advisers in England would recommend that the same crime should be punished in one part of her dominion with death, while in another it should be punished by transportation only.  If the Court should determine that the 4th and 5th Victoria, c. 56 is not in force in this colony, the same offence (essentially the same wherever committed) would be punishable with death in one part of the British dominions, and with transportation in another, an anomaly in the criminal code which it would be difficult to find any precedent to justify.

   Next it is submitted that the repeal by the Imperial Parliament of an Imperial Act in force in the colonies, extends to the latter the Act expressly named.  Mr. Clarke, on Colonial Law, page 16, says,

“Acts passed since the acquisition of a colony, or at least passed subsequent to the establishment of its legal constitution by Royal Commission or by Act of Parliament, do not extend to it unless they appear to have been passed with the intention of being so extended; and Acts of Parliament which alter other Acts in force in the colonies are also considered by inference as applying there.”

And a similar doctrine is laid down in the 2nd vol. of Devarres on Statutes.  The 4 and 5 Vic. c. 56, repeals an Act in force on the colony---not by adoption of the Local legislature itself, but by Imperial legislation---and therefore it is no longer competent or legal for the Executive of New South Wales to act under a repealed Statute---and say, “as you have not mentioned New South Wales expressly, your repealing Statute shall not extend to us,”---and that without any opinion expressed by the Legislature of the colony one way or the other.

  Again, no imperial Statute passed since a Representative Legislature was given to New South Wales is of force in the colony, unless the colony be expressly named, or the Act adopted by the Local Legislature.  If that position be contended for, then how is it that so many Imperial Acts (passed since the first Legislative Council met) are in force ion this colony, although the colony is not named, nor have any Acts or Ordinances been passed adopting the same.  In re Nichols.  In 1839, a question exactly similar to the present one, arose,---viz., whether the Prisoners’ Counsel Bill was in force in this colony (that is, virtually in force), although not specially adopted by the Local Legislature; and the decision of the Supreme Court, after a long argument, was, that the Prisoners’ Counsel Bill was (from the nature of the subject and the language of the Act) in full force and effect in this colony.

   By referring to the Charter of Justice, it will be perceived that the power of the Legislative Council of New South Wales to make laws is restricted to the making of laws for the peace, welfare, and good government of the colony only, (such laws not being repugnant to the laws of England); but to alter, repeal, adopt or prevent by any legislative enactment the full operation in the colony of the fundamental principles of British law, they possess no power whatever.  It is a principle of English jurisprudence that the lives of all Her Majesty’s subjects are equally protected by British law; and will it be contended that life is of less value in New South Wales than in England, or at least that it is expedient to sacrifice life in New South Wales for the very same crime for which in England the Queen herself through her Parliament has solemnly declared life shall not be taken in any case.

   If the Court should be of opinion that the 4th and 5th Victoria, c. 56, section 3, has but a limited operation, that it does not extend to all British subjects, and consequently does not extend to any of the colonies, unless expressly adopted by a local Act or ordinance framed for that purpose.  Such, then, of necessity, must be the consequences resulting from a decision that the 4th and 5th Victoria, c. [35??], section 3, is not of general application and effect.  But suppose that a colonial legislature thought proper to pass a law declaring that the 4th and 5th Victoria, c. 56, should not take effect in their territory.  Such a law would be manifestly repugnant to the law of England, and, as such, would be disallowed by the Queen in Council.

   As, therefore, they could not by any act of their own reject the 4th and 5th Victoria, c. 56, sec. 3, they must adopt it, and for this plain reason, that the only statute under which the crime of rape was hitherto dealt with and punished in the colony, had been repealed and blotted out from the statute book of England.  Now, although the 9 Geo. IV., c. 83, s. 24, declares that all laws then in force in England shall be applied in the administration of justice so far as the circumstances of the colony permit, yet it does not go on to say, that laws affecting the lives and liberties of Her Majesty’s subjects in general, passed subsequent to that Act, shall not be in force in the colony unless adopted by the local legislature; nor, on the other hand, is there any local Act declaring that Imperial Acts passed since 9 Geo. IV., c. 83, shall not be in force here unless specially adopted.

   Mr. WRIXON and Mr. SMYTH followed on the same side.

   Their HONORS, without calling upon the Attorney-General, gave judgment.

   CHIEF JUSTICE:  This Prisoner having been convicted, before Mr. Justice Therry, at the last Bathurst Circuit Court, of the crime of Rape, committed under circumstances of peculiar atrocity, sentence of death was passed upon him.   It is now objected, on behalf the Prisoner, that that sentence was illegal; it being contended, that the crime is only punishable, since the 4 and 5 Vict., c. 56, s. 3, by Transportation for Life.

   Now the law of the case, as it affects this point, is as follows.  Before the New South Wales Act of 9 Geo. IV., c. 83, the crime of Rape was in this colony punishable by Death; by virtue of the 18 Eliz., c.7.  But, by the said 9 Geo. IV., c. 83, s. 24, all statutes then (i.e. on the 25th July 18280 in force in England, shall be applied in the administration of justice in this Colony.  At that date, Lord Lansdowne’s Act 9 Geo. IV., c. 31 had just become law; by which the 18 Eliz., c. 7 was repealed.  By s. 16, however, the same punishment of Death for Rape was re-enacted.  So that, since the 9 geo. IV., c. 83, s. 24, that punishment has been inflicted by virtue of the 9 Geo. IV, c.31, s. 16.

   What, then, was the effect of the 9 Geo. IV., c. 83, s. 24: thus, by one sweeping provision, enacting for New South Wales every then existing statute, which should be applicable and could be applied here?  As it respects the ( G. IV., c. 31, and others similarly situated, the effect was clearly this; that they thenceforward became, specifically, introduced into our local statue book---as much as if they had been re-enacted, severally, in terms applying to the colony.  The question, therefore, which we have to determine, is simply this; has any subsequent Act, or Statute, repealed the local enactment.  The English enactment, (that is to say, the 9 G. IV., c. 31, s. 16 in so far as it respects England,) is unquestionably repealed, by the 4 and 5 Vic. c. 56, s. 3---But, has this statute repealed also the same enactment in and for New South Wales?

   As we have seen, the 9 G. IV., c. 31 operated here by no force of its own; but was enacted for the colony, by the 9 G. IV., c. 83, s. 24.  This latter enactment, therefore, is protanto repealed, if the 9 G. IV., c.31, s. 3, as to this colony be repealed.  Now the 4 and 5 Vic. c. 56, it is certain, does not purport to be an enactment for this colony, and it makes no reference to the 9 G. IV., c. 83, by which the 9 G. IV., c. 31, was extended to the colony.  It recites, that it was expedient “to alter various statutes, in force in England, relative to offences” punishable with death; and then recites, in s. 3, the statute in question---“for consolidating and amending the statutes in England relative to offences against the person.”   The repeal, therefore, in my opinion, was exclusively confined to England.  It appears to me, moreover, to be unquestionable, that we could not hold the repeal to have extended by implication, to New South Wales, unless we could infer from circumstances an intention, by the Legislature, so to extend it.  But there are no circumstances, to justify such an inference here, and, as I conceive, there is everything to repel it.

   Then as to the Judgment of the Court, in re Nichols in 1839---I dissented from the opinion of the majority of the Court in that case, and I do not at this length of time, and after mature consideration, see any reason to alter the opinion which I then formed.  The Court in that case decided that the Prisoners’ Counsel Act, (6 and 7 Wm. IV., c. 114,) was only a declaratory Act, declaring and enacting what the Common Law was in England.  That Act being an Act affecting fundamental principles, and the administration of the law everywhere, may have been held to extend to this colony, not by virtue of any words in itself, but by reason only of its declaring what had been the common law of England.

   The question of the extent of punishment must always vary with circumstances.  But in this colony, from the secluded nature of the bush, the dense scrub, through which unprotected females have to travel, the scattered population, and the disparity of the sexes, it was wisely intended that the severest penal consequences should attach to the crime of rape.

   Mr. Justice DICKINSON:  I have no doubt on the question, and fully concur in the judgment of His Honor the CHIEF JUSTICE.  As if it was necessary to have a law against rape, so it was necessary to have a severe punishment, there is an Act made for New South Wales by the British Parliament, then came an Act repealing the punishment specifically for England, but being silent as to New South Wales, evidently thereby intending that this colony should not benefit by the repeal.

   Then as to Nichol’s case I agree also in the opinion arrived at by the present Chief Justice.  The decision of the Court may well be upheld, not as a decision of the statute law, but of the common law.  I am, therefore, of opinion the punishment of death for rape is legal in this colony.

   Mr. Justice THERRY.---It has been urged that it is unconstitutional that there should be one kind of punishment in one part of her Majesty’s dominions, and another punishment in another; but it was not until a year after the punishment of death for rape was repealed in England, that a similar enactment was provided for Ireland.  So that there the capital punishment continued a long while after it was abolished in England.  I concur in the judgment of their Honors. 

   The COURT then called upon Mr. Wrixon to support his objection to the information.

   Mr. WRIXON said, that the information was void, inasmuch as the Christian name of the prisoner was only set out, and not his surname.  The Attorney-General should have described him as a certain aboriginal native, known to the Attorney-General by the name of “Peter.”  In an information the person must be described and named specifically.  This man was not sufficiently described as Peter---he might be of apostolic descent.  The information only informs the prisoner that he is to be tried under one statute, whereas he is tried under two, viz., the 9 G. IV., c. 31, s. 16, made law here by 9 G. IV., c. 83, s. 24., Reg. v. Pearson, 1 M. Cr. C. p.313.

   The COURT, without calling on the Attorney-General, delivered Judgment.

   The CHIEF JUSTICE said, he had no doubt about the points which Mr. Wrixon had taken.  First, as to the words “against the form of the statute,” being in the singular number, instead of against “the form of the statutes,” in the plural number.  His Honor agreed with Mr. Justice Dickinson, that the probability was, that the information was correct.  The offence was not an offence against the New South Wales Act, but against Lord Lansdown’s Act, and besides the objection comes too late.  The present motion, it is true, is not an arrest of judgment, but it is a motion of the same nature, and the reservation under the Act is only for points of law arising at the trial.  The application therefore is too late to come within the provisions of the Act, as the point was not taken at the proper time.  As to the second point, it would have been better to have described the prisoner as “a certain aboriginal native, commonly called Peter;” or, “a certain aboriginal native to the Attorney-General known as Peter,” but the point should have been taken before the prisoner pleaded.

   Mr. Justice DICKINSON said, that it appeared to him that the information concluding against the form of the Statute was sufficient, and that this objection could not be sustained.  As to the description of the prisoner, he thought it sufficient, though he was of opinion, that it would have been better to have described him as suggested by His Honor the Chief Justice.

   His Honor Mr. Justice THERRY concurred.

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/707, 12/04/1851

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  -  TUESDAY, APRIL 8.

Before the Chief Justice.

THOMAS HARVEY was indicted for committing a rape, at Sydney, on the 25th February.  Not guilty; discharged.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/708, 16/04/1841

THE ABORIGINAL “PETER.”  -  This man, sentenced to suffer death for the crime of rape, is not now to be executed, but his sentence commuted to 15 years’ hard labour on the roads or public works, and to be kept at Cockatoo Island.  Herald, April 11

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/710, 23/04/1851

STOWING AWAY.  -  ELIZABETH CASTLES, ELIZABETH JOHNSON, and FANNY DAVIS, were brought before Captain Browne, on Saturday, under the following circumstances.  The master of the Spec, bound for the South Sea Islands, having received information that the crew intended to stow away several women, gave notice to the water police, and on Thursday night the three females before the court were found under the aft deck among the coals, nearly in a state of nudity.  In their defence, they said that they had been invited on board by some of the sailors, and promised a trip to California.  Captain Browne said that, although a severe punishment, under the Vagrant Act, might be inflicted, he, having forgiven first offences in the cases of several men who were stowed away in vessels bound for California, would dismiss the girls, warning them, however, of the consequences if again detected in a similar attempt.  Herald, April 21

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/712, 30/04/1851

DISORDERLY CONDUCT.  -  On Monday ELIZA RAWLINGS was brought before the bench, charged with being on the premises of Mr. WILLIAM NICHOLSON early on Sunday morning last for an unlawful purpose.  Mr. Nicholson having deposed that on that morning, after previous warning, he found defendant in a hut occupied by several of his men, and evidence having been taken as to defendant’s general character, she was convicted and sentenced to three months’ imprisonment.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/716, 14/05/1851

SYDNEY NEWS.  -  
GEO. DODDERY, charged with an assault with intent to commit a rape on an orphan girl in his service, named ELLEN LANE, was brought up before the Police Magistrate and discharged.  The defendant has applied for a copy of the deposition – no doubt with a view to prosecute for perjury.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/721, 31/05/1851

DISGRACEFUL OUTRAGE.  -  A little after nine o’clock on Tuesday evening, JAMES SMITH and his wife, residing at Botany, were proceeding homeward from Pembleton’s public-house, and when at a short distance from the Waterloo mills, on the Botany road, they were stopped by four men, who after knocking Smith down rifled his pockets of their contents – a silver watch and 25s. in money.  Two of the ruffians then held Smith down, having drawn knives in their hands, threatening his life if he made any noise or offered to rise, while the other two took his wife into the bush and ravished her.  Smith has described two of the men as under: one, about five feet ten inches in height, wearing a blue serge shirt, moleskin trousers, and a California hat; the other, about five feet seven inches bin height, wearing a dark shooting coat, dark trousers, and a cabbagetree hat; of the other two he cannot give any description.  Herald, May 29

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/723, 07/06/1851

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.

This court opened on Monday, June 2, before Mr. Justice Therry. – Tuesday, June 3.  -  Before the Chief Justice.

THOMAS SWAN was acquitted on a charge of indecently assaulting a female child of four years of age. 

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/729, 28/06/1851

ABDUCTION.  -  On Monday, four parties named PATRICK MEEHAN, JAMES MATHER, MARY OATES, and MARY RYAN, appeared before the Police Magistrate charged with having unlawfully taken out of the possession of her father, one EMILY BLAKE, an unmarried female under the age of sixteen years.  Mr. Nichols appeared for the prosecution, and Mr. Johnson for the defence.  The father of the child proved that she was only fourteen years and five months old, and that he was also acquainted with Meehan and his sister Mrs. Oates; they were in the habit of using his house as customers, but Meehan had never paid his addresses to his daughter with his knowledge or consent.  Dr. FULLERTON deposed to having married the prisoner, Meehan, to AMELIA BLAKE; she was represented to him as being the child of a man who had gone to California and left under the care of the woman Ryan, who said that she was seventeen years of age.  Several witnesses were examined, and the court having sat two days hearing the case, decided that sufficient testimony had been adduced to warrant the committal of the prisoner.  They were admitted to bail.  People’s Advocate, June 25

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/732, 09/07/1851

ABDUCTION.

ILLEGAL SOLEMNIZATION OF MARRIAGE.  -  Further evidence in the BLAKE abduction case; decision postponed.  Abridged from the Herald

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/733, 12/07/1851.

SYDNEY NEWS.  -  At the Criminal Court today, the Rev. Dr. FULLERTON was found guilty of illegally performing the marriage ceremony, knowing that the female [BLAKE – abduction] was under age and her father still living.  A motion was made for arrest of judgement, which will be argued on Friday.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/734, 16/07/1851.

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT. -  WEDNESDAY, JULY 9, 1851

ILLEGAL SOLEMNIZATIO N OF MARRIAGE.  -  A more detailed account of the first trial.

Thursday, July 10.

ABDUCTION.  -  MARY OATES, MARY RYAN, and EMMELINE EMMA BLAKE.  

THE QUEEN v. JAMES FULLERTON.  JUDGEMENT ON WEDNESDAY.  Editorial note : {We observe from the Herald’s  report of the proceedings in this case, that out of the twelve jurymen who to all appearances unanimously returned a verdict of guilty against the rev. defendant, nine subsequently joined in writing a letter to the clerk of the court, stating that they intended to have returned a verdict of not guilty.  The court said no notice could now be taken of such an extraordinary statement.]

ASSAULT.  -  Yesterday CATHERINE PRAIN appeared before the bench, charged by MARY GAGGIN with assaulting her daughter, MARY ANN GAGGIN.  The little girl, Mary Ann Gaggin, deposed that as she was in Mrs. Stevens’s house, nursing Mrs. Stevens’s baby, Mrs. Prain came in to her and abused her for breaking her boy’s leg, and Mrs. Prain then knocked her down, knocked her head against the wall, and squeezed her throat with her hands until Mrs. Stevens came in and took her off.  Mrs. ELIZABETH STEVENS and Mrs. ELIZABETH PITCHFORD deposed that they ran into the house on hearing the girl’s screams, and found Mrs. Prain holding her by the neck, and saw her drag her across the room by the shoulder, and knock her head against the wall; Mrs. Prain said she was punishing her for throwing stones at her boy, and she refused to let her go, but at length Mrs. Stevens got the girl away, and sent her home to her mother for protection.  In defence Mrs. Prain said these stories were all false, that she only took the girl by the shoulder, and shook her, telling her never to throw stones at her boy again, but she did not strike her or seize her by the throat.  The bench convicted the defendant, fining her 20s. and costs.

CHARGE OF THREATENING.  -  On Saturday MARY GUNNING and MARGARET CAMPBELL appeared before the bench, charged by ANN PHILLIPS with threatening her.  The evidence of Mrs. Phillips having been taken, to the effect that both defendants threatened her as she was passing their houses, the case was withdrawn, on the promise of the defendants not to repeat the offence.

SYDNEY NEWS.  

PATRICK MEEHAN was this day found guilty of abduction, and sentenced to three years’ imprisonment in Sydney gaol.

   The two females, OATES and RYAN, have their bail enlarged till Wednesday next, on which day the point reserved at their trial will be argued.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/735, 19/07/1851

SYDNEY NEWS.

The sentence passed on the Rev. Dr. FULLERTON was this day set aside at the Supreme Court on account of some illegal technicality in the information charging him with the offence for which he was convicted.  The prosecutor is, however, at liberty to move for a new trial, or rather to proceed on a fresh information.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/736, 23/07/1851

THE ABDUCTION CASE.  -  The case of Dr. FULLERTON was fully argued on Saturday last before the three Judges, and the decision was postponed till Wednesday.  On that day the Chief Justice said that it was the opinion of the Court that judgement should be arrested.  His Honor accounted for the decision by saying that the two acts relating to marriage in this colony should be construed as if they were only one enactment.  By these two acts no clergyman can marry without the consent of the father if living in the colony, and if he be dead or absent, without the consent of the guardians regularly appointed.  In this case the words “an in the colony” were omitted, and also no mention of the fact that the consent of the mother or guardian was not obtained.  The other judges agreed in this opinion, and the reverend defendant was discharged.

   On Friday the two women, OATES and RYAN, were brought up for judgement, and the points reserved in their favour having been over-ruled, they were each sentenced to two years’ imprisonment.  People’s Advocate, July 19

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/739, 02/08/1851

SYDNEY NEWS.  -  ARTHUR HUFFINGTON was also committed, after three or four days’ examination, for assaulting one ANN SMITH, alias MURPHY, with intent to commit a rape.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/740, 06/08/1851

ASSAULT WITH INTENT TO COMMIT A CAPITAL OFFENCE.  

REGINA v. ARTHUR HUGGINGTON, gent.  -  The investigation of this case, which was instituted at the instance of Mrs. ANN MURPHY, alias SMITH, against Arthur Huffington, a medical gentleman, residing in Botany-street, Surry Hills, occupied the Court during part of Friday last, and Monday and Tuesday, and was terminated by the magisterial decision yesterday.  His Worship (Mr. FLOOD) gave his decision as follows:-  “I find, after looking carefully through the whole evidence for the prosecution in this case, that Mrs. Murphy, alias Smith, charges the defendant with having assaulted her with criminal intention on Saturday, the 19th instant, in the drawing-room of his own house.  She escaped and fled to the dining-room, where he again assaulted her.  She ultimately effected her escape by jumping over the fence of the verandah.  Prosecutrix also states that she would not have brought the charge against the defendant if he had paid the wages due to her, and the person Smith represented as her husband, and suffered them to quit his house and service on the following Monday.  On the Wednesday following, the prosecutrix states that she was subjected to another assault by the defendant, whereupon she made a complaint to an officer of the police establishment.  Great stress has been laid by the advocate for the defence on the discrepancies in the prosecutrix’s evidence, but those discrepancies do not at all affect the charge in question.  I see nothing to justify me in omitting to send this case before a jury.  The defendant is committed for trial, at the ensuing sessions of the Central Criminal Court.”  Prisoner was allowed bail; himself in £100, and two sureties in £50 each.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/748, 03/09/1851

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT. -  TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 2, 1851.

RAPE

MICHAEL COHILLANE was indicted for assaulting and ravishing ANNE MILSOM, against her will, at Aberdeen, on the 10th May, 1851.

   Mr. Purefoy appeared for the defence; attorney, Mr. Baker.

   The witnesses called were Anne Milsom, CHARLES MILSOM, MARY WALDRON, and RICHARD BODDILY.
    Mrs. Milsom is a married woman, wife of Charles Milsom, who resides about seven miles from Scone; on the 10th May she went to Scone pound to release some cattle, leaving home early in the morning; her husband came after her, and a little before sundown they left Scone with the cattle, twelve head; one of the cows got sick on the road, and about three miles from Scone got unable to proceed; after some delay Milsom went home with the remaining cattle, leaving Mrs. Milsom with the cow; it was moonlight, but rather cloudy at intervals; in case the cow remained ill Milsom was to return, and they were to pass the night there, so Mrs. Milsom got some wood together; she heard a man riding up galloping, and she drew on one side under the shade of a tree; prisoner, who was the man, and was known to her by the name of Mickey Bad English, called out “where are you, Mrs. Milsom”; after he had so called her twice she stepped out, thinking her husband had perhaps sent him to assist her; some conversation followed, and she went towards the cow, when prisoner, who had got off his horse, seized her by the shoulders, and threw her with great force to the ground, and kept her down with his foot while he looked round.  The witness than related what followed; she struggled and got away from him, and screamed murder, holding by a fence to protect herself, but he threw her down again, and effected his purpose, in spite of her continued resistance.  Prisoner subsequently offered witness a money order, begging her to say nothing about it; she did not take the order, and made no reply except to beg him to go away; he refused to go unless she swore she’d not say one word, or he would kill her; she swore as he desired, and he then went away, threatening to kill both her and her husband if she did say anything; prisoner was there altogether about twenty minutes.  The prisoner rode off in the direction of Scone, and some time after she heard a horse galloping up from that direction, and heard prisoner speaking in Irish to his horse; she got away from the spot, and prisoner passed; witness’s husband returned to her some short time after, and witness immediately told him all that had occurred; the paper produced was one that she found on the ground on gathering up her things afterwards.  -  Cross-examined: witness had had only half a tumbler of colonial beer to drink that day; the nearest house was three-quarters of a mile from the spot where the prisoner committed the outrage on her; that was Mr. WILLIAM DANGAR’S house; the time might be between eight and nine o’clock in the evening.  The witness was closely cross-examined as to the exact circumstances under which the offence was committed, and her deposition at the Scone police-office was put in and read, in which there were some differences on minor points, but the main facts were described in the same way.  -  Charles Milsom corroborated his wife’s evidence up to the time he left her with the sick cow; witness rode on homewards, and saw the prisoner standing at the door of his neighbour, MARY ANN WALDRON; Mrs. Waldron asked witness where his wife was; witness told how and where he left her, and said he was going homer, and then to return with some refreshments for his wife, as she might have to stay all night with the cow; that was about half-past seven o’ clock; witness rode home, got some tea eady, and then returned to his wife on horseback, slowly, with some tea in a bottle; the moon had then gone down; on reaching the spot where he left his wife he had rto call twice for his wife, who then appeared and told him that she had been nearly murdered, and that a rape had been committed upon her; she told witness who the man was and the particulars; she appeared very weak and much frightened, and could scarcely be got home; witness did not see prisoner again that night after seeing him at Mrs. Waldron’s door, where he heard what passed between Mrs. Waldron and witness.  -  Mrs. Waldron remembered Milsom calling at her place that evening; prisoner was within hearing of all that Milsom said to witness; prisoner left her house shortly afterwards, going in the direction of his master’s house, Mr. Hall, which was a contrary direction to the Scone road; there was no fence between the roads, only the bush; some considerable time afterwards, after witness had gone to bed, Milsom brought his wife to witness’s house, and Mrs. Milsom remained there the night; Mrs. Milsom was greatly frightened and very weak, and told witness what had happened. – Chief constable Boddily knew prisoner as Michael Cohillane, a ticket of leave holder, in the service of Mr. Hall; witness apprehended prisoner on a charge of rape on Sunday, the 11th May; prisoner made no remark except that he had never seen the woman; prisoner was commonly called Mickey Bad English.

   Mr. Purefoy addressed the jury for the defence.  After commenting on the importance of the case before them, as affecting the life of the prisoner, he noticed that the evidence as to the alleged offence was solely that of the prosecutrix, Mrs. Milsom, whose evidence must therefore be closely examined.  Rape was a charge easy to make, as needing only the evidence of one person, and was on that account the more difficult to be rebutted by the accused person.  His only dependence therefore must be that the jury would jealously scrutinise the evidence of that one witness, and see if it was consistent in all its parts, now, and with her previous deposition.  Was Mrs. Milsom’s evidence so clear and so consistent as to stand this examination?  He contended that it was not, and that even if the jury believed the prisoner was with her at all on that evening there was so much doubt about what really occurred, whether with her consent or without it, that at the utmost it would merely be a charge of assault, which was a verdict the jury could deliver if they chose.  The learned counsel then closely commented on the discrepancies between the prosecutrix’s evidence at Scone and that given that day, and on the improbability of the prisoner committing such an act of violence on the high road, at such an early hour of the evening.  Mr. Purefoy called chief constable CHARLES FOX, of Muswellbrook, who had known prisoner by sight several years, and had not heard anything against his character.

  His Honor, in summing up told the jury they must satisfy themselves whether or not the prisoner did commit a rape upon the person of Anne Milsom, and against her consent.  His Honor then read through the evidence, commenting on it as he proceeded.  That the prisoner did commit the offence was clear, if the jury believed Mrs. Milsom’s evidence; but there still remained the question whether it was against her consent, and they must form their opinion on this most material question from all the circumstances, as well as from Mrs. Milsom’s direct replies to the queries bearing on that point.  As testing her evidence in this respect his Honor read over her evidence at the Scone Police-office, pointing out the extent and nature of the discrepancies between her statements then and now.  So far as her direct replies went, the case was completely made out against the prisoner, if the jury thought that her remaining evidence was consistent with this conclusion, and that the discrepancies pointed out did not affect her credibility.  If they were not satisfied beyond any reasonable doubt that the offence was completed, and against the consent of the prosecutrix, they would acquit the prisoner.  If they thought he had assaulted and ill-used her, without completing the offence, they would acquit him of the felony, and find him guilty of assault.  But if they found themselves satisfied beyond any reasonable doubt that the prisoner did complete the offence, and against her consent, then their duty would be to find him guilty of the offence as charged.

   The jury retired for a few minutes, and returned with a verdict of guilty.

   The sentence of the court having been prayed, 

    His Honor impressively addressed the prisoner.  The prisoner, Michael Cohillane, had been convicted by an intelligent jury of the crime of rape, and he must say that he was perfectly satisfied with their verdict, and he thought all persons who had heard the evidence must be so also.  From an early period in the history of the law in England the crime of rape had been punished with death.  Recently, the legislature in England had seen fit to abolish that punishment, although it was at the time remarked by that eminent statesman, Sir Robert Peel, that he was afraid the time might come when the legislature would have to retrace its steps.  And he (his Honor) had heard and believed that the crime of rape had been committed much more frequently than before in England.  A proposition was also made to the legislature of this colony to abolish the punishment of death for rape, but the legislature, taking into account the difference in the circumstances of this colony and England, and the numerous cases in which women were necessarily left alone, in lonely situations, refused to make the change.  Subsequently a prisoner was convicted of rape, and sentenced to death, and a question was submitted to the Supreme Court by a learned counsel whether it was not illegal to pass such a sentence in the colony, inasmuch as in England the legislature had abolished the punishment of death for rape.  The whole of the Judges, however, held that the sentence was perfectly legal.  If he now, therefore, was to take the course of ordering sentence of death to be simply recorded, it would be taking on himself to reverse the decision of the legislature, unless there were circumstances of mitigation to justify him.  He could not, however, see in the present case any such circumstances of mitigation.  On the contrary the crime was marked by unusual features of atrocity.  It could not be pleaded here that the prisoner was excited by sudden passion, or that he came suddenly of the unfortunate woman, in such a position as to offer unexpected temptation; on the contrary, he had evidently ridden to the spot, on hearing from her husband on the unprotected position she was left in, and had then, under circumstances of great violence, committed the great outrage she had detailed in evidence.  He could not, therefore, hold out any hope of mercy to the prisoner, and could only urge him to use the short timer left him in this world to make his peace with God, and to prepare himself for another world.  He now sentenced the prisoner to be taken from hence to the place from whence he came, thence to be taken on a day to be hereafter fixed to the place of execution, and there to be hanged by the neck until he was dead; and might God have mercy on his immortal soul.

   The prisoner, who appeared little moved, was then taken away.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/755, 27/09/1851

EXTRAORDINARY CHARGE.  -  JOHN VALENTINE, a little boy apparently about thirteen years of age, but whose father stated he was between fourteen and fifteen, was charged with violating the person of MARIANNE DAVIS, aged seven years, at Linden-lane, Parramatta-street.  The case was not fully gone into, as the unhappy little prisoner fainted during the examination, and had to be carried out into the open air.  The offence was charged with having been committed about four weeks ago, and such portion of the evidence as was heard yesterday, is of a nature to render it unfit for publication.  The further hearing of the case was adjourned until to-day, the father entering into a recognizance for the appearance of his son.  Empire, Sept 22.  -  The father of the boy, John Valentine, (who fainted during his examination on Monday) informed the bench that his son was at home very unwell, and unable to attend.  The bench adjourned the further hearing of the case until Friday.  Empire, Sept. 24
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/756, 01/10/1851

THE CONDEMNED PRTISONER, MICHAEL COHILLANE.  -  Tomorrow (Thursday), at nine o’clock, Michael Cohillane, who was convicted at the late assizes of a rape on ANNE MILSOM, is to be hung at the gaol, East Maitland.  We understand that exertions have been made to get his sentence commuted, and that Mrs. Milsom joined in signing a petition to the Executive to that effect, but without avail.

A LAD CHARGED WITH A CAPITAL OFFENCE.  -  JOHN VALENTINE, aged between thirteen and fourteen, who was remanded in the early part of the week, for having committed a capital offence on the person of a little girl under seven years of age, named JANE DAVIS, was brought up by his father for final examination.  The boy groaned with horror at his dangerous and shameful position during the entire time occupied by the hearing of the case.  The evidence of Dr. RUSSELL tended materially to exonerate the youthful delinquent from the capital charge, and the other evidence being that of mere children, and of a conflicting nature, the Police Magistrate said he had come to the conclusion that it would be inadvisable to send the case before the Attorney-General; taking into consideration the extreme youth of the accused, and also of the girl and her sister, he did not suppose that the Attorney-General would put him before a jury, and even in the event of a public trial, the exposure of the facts of the case would be more likely to have a demoralising than a beneficial effect upon the children of own age.  His Worship commented strongly on the misconduct of the parents of the accused and the child Davis.  It was testified that the girl’s mother was an ill-conducted woman, ass she was in the habit of getting drunk and neglecting her children, suffering them to remain to late hours of the night on the pavement.  His Worship recommended Mrs. Davis to be more careful of her children for the future, and also expressed a hope that the lad’s father would properly correct his son, as there had evidently been some very improper conduct on his part.  The father promised to do so, and the lad was discharged from custody.  Empire, Sept. 27

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/757, 04/10/1851

EXECUTION OF MICHAEL COHILLANE.  -  On Thursday morning MICHAEL COHILLANE, who was convicted at the Circuit Court of committing a rape on ANN MILSOM, was executed, at Maitland gaol, in the presence of three or four hundred persons.  We understand that Cohillane has ever since his trial been most assiduous in is religious duties, and quiet, appearing very penitent.  When Cohillane was brought on the drop, the Rev. Dean Lynch, who has attended him throughout, and was with him to the last, briefly addressed the spectators, saying he was desired by the unfortunate man to state that he confessed having committed the crime of which he was convicted, for which he was deeply penitent, and desired the prayers of all present.  We have not learnt that any general exertion to save Cohillane’s life was made, but Mrs. Milsom, with a highly creditable spirit, waited upon the Rev. Dean Lynch, and addressed through him a memorial to the Governor General, praying that Cohillane’s life should be spared, to which Mr. Lynch appended a similar prayer.  The answer returned was that the Executive Council saw nothing in the case which could prevent them from letting the law take its course.
INDECENT ASSAULT.  -  A man named JERMAIN, apparently of about fifty years of age, was yesterday committed to take his trial at the Central Criminal Court, for an indecent assault upon a girl under twelve years of age.  He was admitted to bail – himself in £80, with two sureties in £40 each.  Herald, Sept. 30

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/758, 08/10/1851

EDITORIAL re “THE PUNISHMENT OF DEATH FOR RAPE.  -  Refers to the Cohillane case, and general attitudes.

LETTER TO THE EDITOR, re death penalty for rape.  Justicia, Maitland, Oct. 3.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/759, 11/10/1851

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  -  TUESDAY, OCTOBER 7.

INDECENT ASSAULT

JOHN MURPHY was indicted for having, on the 15th September last, indecently assaulted MATILDA JAMES, a girl twelve years of age, with intent to violate her person.

   The case was clearly established by the evidence not only of the girl herself, but of two other witnesses, who saw the prisoner assault the girl with the intention, apparently, of committing a capital offence.

  Guilty; two years imprisonment, with hard labour, and to find sureties for his good behaviour for two years more.

INDECENT ASSAULT

FRANCIS JERMAINE was indicted for having, on the 27th of September last, indecently assaulted one EMMA RILEY, a girl of eleven years of age.

   It appeared from the evidence that the prisoner was in the habit of working near where the girl and her parents resided, and the girl went to ask him for paper, in order to curl her hair, when the man caught hold of her and proceeded to take improper liberties with her.  The girl’s mother, however, saw him through the half closed door, and the child was rescued.

   The jury found the prisoner guilty, and he was sentenced to be kept to hard labour on the roads for the space of two years.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/771, 22/11/1851

SYDNEY NEWS.

COMMITTAL.  -  WILLIAM LANGRIDGE, mate of the schooner Rose of Eden, was this day committed for trial on a charge of rape.  The prosecutrix, MARY POWER, about 16 years of age, had been engaged from the female depot to proceed to the M’Leay River, and had been put on board the Rose of Eden to be conveyed thither.  During the night the alleged offence was committed.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/775, 06/12/1851

INDECENT ASSAULT.  -  FREDERICK BATCHES, a man of color, was indicted for having assaulted, with intent, &c., SARAH ANN BIDDLE, a child only seven years of age.

   This case, which had been postponed from the last Circuit Court for the proper instructions of the little girl as to the nature and obligations of an oath, was proceeded with to some extent now, the evidence being unfit to report, but was ultimately abandoned, the girl proving not able to be examined on oath.

   The jury expressed their regret at being compelled to acquit the prisoner, after the evidence given by the girl’s parents.  The court then adjourned.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/777, 13/12/1851

ASSAULT, WITH INTENT.  -  On the 5th instant a man named THOMAS CLARKE was brought before the bench, having been apprehended early that morning by constable JOHN QUINLAN on a charge of having, some time since, committed a rape upon a Mrs. JOHNSON, who it was stated was rendered too ill by the outrage to come into town and take out a warrant for him.  On a subsequent day Mrs. Johnson’s evidence was taken, but it did not sustain the charge of rape, and Clarke was committed for trial on a charge of assault, with intent.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 9/777, 13/12/1851

RAPE.  -  On Friday last a rape was committed on the person of a little girl named BROOKS, about nine years of age, upon Mr. Nelson Lawson’s establishment, by a ruffian whose name did not transpire.  Singular to say, no attempt was made by the people about the place to detain the culprit, although the disgusting transaction was generally known; and it was not until the circumstance was reported at the police-office in Mudgee that he took himself off.  Every effort was made by the constabulary upon receipt of the information, but without success.  The perpetration of the crime was accompanied by considerable cruelty, from the effects of which the girl is now suffering severely.  Bathurst Free Press, Dec. 6

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/887, 01/01/1853

ABUSIVE AND INSULTING LANGUAGE. – Yesterday ELLEN WINNETT appeared before the bench, charged with using abusive and insulting language to the wife of JAMES DELOCHERY, on the 25th December.  Delochery having proved the words, constable CHARLES POOL deposed that he heard the words, which were addressed to Mrs. SMITH, not Mrs. Delochery.  Constable KEDWELL said the words were addressed to Delochery.  The bench dismissed the case.
INDECENT LANGUAGE. – Yesterday WILLIAM ASHTON appeared before the bench charged with using indecent language on Monday last, in a public place, West Maitland.  The place was at the end of Ashton’s house, in the yard, twelve yards from a public thoroughfare; M’CABE and Ashton lived next door to each other.  M’Cabe and HUMPHRY MURPHY gave evidence as to the facts.  It appeared that MARY ASHTON, defendant’s wife, was also summoned on the same charge, the two having been in fact using the language to each other.  The bench convicted Ashton, and fined him 10s. and costs, or seven days’ imprisonment.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/888, 05/01/1853

MAITLAND QUARTER SESSIONS. 

ASSAULT WITH INTENT.

   JEMMY, an aboriginal, was indicted for assaulting MARY WILLIAMS, with intent to ravish her, at Coorumbung, on the 18th November, 1852.  In a second count he was charged with a common assault.
   Mr. Purefoy appeared for the defence.

   The witnesses called were Mary Williams, JOHN SEAMAN, and DENIS DWYER.

   The whole of the evidence in this case cannot be given.  Mrs. Williams and her husband live in the district of Brisbane Water, Williams being a dairyman; on the 18th November Williams was away from home, when prisoner, who had been at the house once or twice before, came to the house, having a gun with him, and having ascertained that Williams was away, he used very indecent language to Mrs. Williams, and threw her down on the ground, and used some further violence which she described, but on her resisting and pressing him to go away and saying she would give him half a crown to go, he let her get up, and she got half a crown from the house and gave him; he went away, but returned in a short time, but she got rid of him again by a promise of some rum; a third time he returned, to give her a message to a black gin, and then went away, and as soon as he was out of sight she took her child and hastened off to the house of her nearest neighbour, three miles off, for protection, where she made a complaint to constable Seaman.  In cross-examination Mrs. Williams said the prisoner did not use all his strength, nor treat her with great violence.---Seaman described the appearance of Mrs. Williams when she made her complaint; he had seen prisoner that morning, going in the direction of Williams’s farm; prisoner used to shoot ducks for a livelihood.---Chief constable Dwyer, of Brisbane Water, apprehended prisoner on the 20th November in a camp of blacks, about three miles from Maitland; another constable was with witness; prisoner resisted violently.
   Mr. Purefoy thought the jury could not feel justified in convicting prisoner of the more serious charge, while little doubt could exist that he committed an assault on Mrs. Williams.

   The jury returned a verdict of guilty of common assault.  The prisoner was sentenced to six months’ imprisonment.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/892, 19/01/1853

CHARGE OF ASSAULT.---Yesterday a charge of assault, Ann Doyle v Thomas Hall, came before the bench.  Mrs. Doyle said that on the night of the 7th instant she went out into her yard, in East Maitland, at a late hour of the night, when constable Hall came in and caught hold of her, and held her till her husband came out and asked what was the matter, when Hall let her go, and begged her pardon, saying he mistook her for another person.  The bench thought the apology ought to have satisfied Mrs. Doyle, and dismissed the case.  [see 11/904, 02/03/1853]
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/896, 02/02/1853
ASSAULT UPON A YOUNG GIRL.---William Coulbourn, [see 11/899, 12/02/1853] who was stated to be the mate of a ship, was brought up for examination yesterday, charged with having committed an assault upon Bridget Moore, the daughter of Mr. James Moore, a dealer in ornithological specimens, in Pitt-street.  The evidence of the girl may be compressed into a few words:---She was proceeding with her three elder sisters towards Robinson’s baths on Wednesday morning, about half-past four o’clock; when they reached the entrance of that portion of Hyde Park, well known as Lover’s Walk, the defendant came up, seized her round the waist, threw her down, and attempted other improprieties.  She screamed for help, and her sisters joined in concert.  This brought a Mr. Coleman to the spot, who rescued her from her perilous situation, but not without some severe blows from Coulbourn.  A policeman then came up, who took the latter into custody.  The case was perfectly clear, and he was committed to take his trial for the offence.  Bell’s Life, January 29.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/899, 12/02/1853

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  This Court opened on Monday, the 7th.

Before the Chief Justice.

William Coleman [see 11/896, 02/02/1853] was indicted for an indecent assault on a female child named Bridget Moore, under twelve years old.  Guilty; three months’ imprisonment.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/900, 16/02/1853

ASSAULT WITH INTENT. --- On Monday Stephen Ryan was brought before the bench, charged with indecently assaulting a girl named Mary Ann Ponter, about a month since, in his own house, on the Paterson River.  The girl, who is between 12 and 13 years old, deposed clearly to a rape being committed on her by Ryan, no one being in the house at the time, besides themselves, but a child of three years old.  The evidence is of such a nature that it cannot be given.  But it appeared that the girl, although she said she told Mrs. Ryan immediately she came in, did not tell her own mother any more than that Ryan had kissed her, for above three weeks after, and then did not tell her till she was threatened with a severe beating.  Two medical men, Drs. M’Cartney and Wilton, deposed that no rape or injurious violence had taken place.  Ryan was committed for trial at the Circuit Court, but admitted to bail.
CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  Wednesday, February 9.

Before the Chief Justice.

J.A. Lappin was indicted for indecently assaulting a child named Margaret Hutton, under eight years of age, at Redfern.  Guilty; three years on the roads.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/904,  02/03/1853
MISCONDUCT OF A CONSTABLE.---Yesterday constable Thomas Hall appeared before the bench, charged by Mary Berry with misconduct. The charge was to the effect that on two several occasions within the last fortnight the defendant met the complainant, a young woman, between East and West Maitland, and made improper offers to her; he had frequently annoyed her before; on the second occasion he taunted her previously by asking what she would take for her shoes and her frock; on a third occasion he came to her as she was lifting a bucket, in her service, and told her he had a love-letter for her; she told him she did not want his love-letters, but he said she should take them and he’d make her suffer, and he pulled her hair with violence, and thrust the papers in her hair.  These papers proved to be a plaint and summons to the Small Debts Court, on defendant’s own behalf against her, he laying £10 damages against her for defamation of character.  A witness named Ann Doyle corroborated Berry’s evidence as to one of the times mentioned by her.  Mr. Nicholl, for the defence, said he though nothing had been proved requiring him to say anything; a constable might pass a joke as well as another man.  Hall himself, in defence, denied ever speaking to the girl till he took the summons to her.  The bench said this itself was an offence, he being himself the plaintiff, the bailiff being the only party allowed to serve summonses.  In answer to the police magistrate, chief constable Wood said complaints had previously been made against constable Hall.  The charge of defamation of character, which Hall had now brought against Berry, was it appears founded on her going to Major Crummer to make a complaint of Hall’s continually insulting her when he met her.  The bench said that while they were always prepared to protect constables in the execution of their duty, they would equally punish those who were proved to abuse their position, and they convicted Hall, and fined him £2 6d. 6d.   [see also 11/892, 19/02/1853]
BATHURST CIRCUIT COURT.---This Court opened on Thursday, the 24th February, before his Honor the Chief Justice.

Adam Emmelhauz, a German, was indicted for having committed, on the 18th October last, at Saltram, an indecent assault upon Eliza Barg, a child of the age of ten years.  The case against defendant, which is wholly unfit for publication, was clearly proved, in addition to which some letters from the prisoner to the child’s brother were put in in evidence which left no doubt as to the indecent intentions of the defendant.  The jury stopped his Honor whilst summing up, and found the defendant guilty.  Three years on the roads.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/906, 09/03/1853

ABDUCTION.

Thomas Hickey was indicted for the abduction of Elizabeth Caldwell, and unmarried girl of fifteen years, from the custody and without the consent of her father, Samuel Caldwell, on the 14th December, 1852, at New England.

   Mr. Purefoy appeared for the defence; attorney Mr. Turner.

   The witnesses called were Samuel Caldwell, and Elizabeth Caldwell.

   Mr. Caldwell is an innkeeper at Walcha, New England; either in June or July next his daughter will be sixteen years old; on the 14th  December last she was as usual in his house, and took tea with the rest of the family; about half an hour afterwards she was missed, having left the house without even a bonnet on; John Hickey, the brother of the prisoner, was a groom in witness’s service some two years ago; the prisoner was a labourer, employed in the neighbourhood; after missing his daughter witness rode in pursuit, and after a long search found her in Sydney, on the 25th December; he traced her and the Hickeys down from New England, through Raymond Terrace, and on to Sydney; he found her in a house on the Glebe land, in bed with a young female, in a house occupied by a relation of the Hickeys; he took possession of her as his daughter, and took her home; witness’s daughter was unmarried, and was taken away against his will, neither of the Hickeys having ever even asked witness for her; she has since remained in witness’s family.
Cross-examined: Witness believed his daughter was born in the year 1837, but would not swear positively to it, but she is not yet sixteen years old; on his journey in pursuit of his daughter witness met with prisoner at Raymond Terrace, and assisted in apprehending him; witness did not start on his journey  till the third day after his daughter left, being engaged making enquiries and searching; there was, witness thought, some slight attachment between his daughter and John Hickey prior to this, and witness interfered to prevent Hickey’s decoying her away from his premises, Hickey being arrested on the charge, but the charge withdrawn on his promising not to repeat this conduct.
   Miss Caldwell said she left her father’s house that evening, between nine and ten o’clock, with John Hickey; met the prisoner, Thomas Hickey, about five hundred yards from her father’s house, but not by appointment; he had three horses with him; it had been arranged twelve months before that she should go away that night, the signal being a whistle; she mounted one of the horses without assistance, riding a man’s saddle as if it was a woman’s saddle; she had a hat on, of John Hickey’s; she and John Hickey rode off through the bush, the prisoner not accompanying them; they got astray, and after riding that night and the next day got to an accommodation house; witness described their further journey via Stroud and Raymond Terrace to Sydney; she saw nothing more of the prisoner, Thomas Hickey, from the night she left him near her father’s house till on her return from Sydney with her father she found him at Stroud in custody; John Hickey came up within a few yards of her father’s house for her, but Thomas Hickey she found 500 yards off, holding the horses, and when she and John had mounted she shook hands with Thomas Hickey, and saw no more of him.  She never told her father she was going, but could not say whether he had heard about it, as everybody knew it about.  When her father found her in Sydney John Hickey was in another room in the same house; she did not know how he escaped being taken.

   Mr. Purefoy addressed the jury for the defendant, contending that there was no proof whatever of any attempt by the prisoner to induce Elizabeth Caldwell to leave her home, or of his taking any part in the transaction, except holding some horses for his brother; nor any sufficient proof of the age of the young woman being really under sixteen years, which was essential under the indictment.  Having examined the evidence on these points, he maintained that the jury could not hesitate in finding his client innocent.

   The jury retired for half an hour, and returned with a verdict of not guilty.  Hickey was discharged.

INDECENT CONDUCT.---Yesterday constable Thomas Durley was brought before the bench, charged by constable Tomley with being drunk in the streets of East Maitland on Monday night last, and with indecently exposing himself.  The case having been proved against him, the bench dismissed him from the service.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/907, 12/03/1853.

BATHURST CIRCUIT COURT.  -  (Before his Honor the Chief Justice.) 

Thursday, March 3.

Paddy, (an aboriginal) was indicted for having committed a rape on Catherine Schmitt, at Oakey Creek, on the 23rd of January last.  The prosecutrix, who is a German, was examined partly through an interpreter.  It appeared from her evidence that her husband was a shepherd for Mr. Bowman, at Oakey Creek; on the day mentioned in the information the husband was absent from home when the prisoner entered the hut, and after threatening to strike the prosecutrix with a tomahawk, completed the offence.  Guilty.  His Honor passed sentence of death upon the prisoner.

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT.

(Before his Honor Mr. Justice Therry.)

Wednesday, March 9, 1863.

ASSAULT WITH INTENT.

Stephen Ryan was indicted for assaulting Mary Ann Ponter, at the Paterson River, on the 17th January, 1853, with intent to ravish her.  In a second count he was indicted for a common assault.

   Mr. Purefoy appeared for the defence; attorney, Mr. Turner.

   The witnesses called were Mary Ann Ponter and Bridget Watson.

   The whole of the evidence in this case cannot be given.  Mary Ann Ponter, a girl of between twelve and thirteen years old, was for above three months in the service of Mrs. Swan, of the Paterson River; prisoner lived on the other side of the river, keeping a school; when Mrs. Swan came into Maitland, eight miles off, she used to send her children and witness to Mrs. Ryan’s, for fear of their going near the river; in that way witness way at Mrs. Eyan’s on Saturday, the 17th January, when late in the evening she was pushed down and assaulted by the prisoner in the manner she described, for half an hour; the baby and a little child were the only other persons in the house at the time, Mrs. Ryan and the others being all out, on the ground.  [As the witness described it, the prisoner committed a rape on her, in spite of her resistance.]  As soon as Mrs. Ryan came in, on hearing the baby scream, prisoner left her, and went into the school room.  The witness also described other indecent assaults on her by prisoner, of a less aggravated nature.  In cross-examination Mr. Purefoy tested her evidence in various ways, particularly as to the minute particulars.  Witness left the prisoner’s house on the following Monday, returning to Mrs. Swan’s, and then, about a fortnight afterwards, she left Mrs. Swan’s house for her own house, her mother taking her away; witness told her mother all that passed about a fortnight after she got home, on her mother’s threatening to beat her if she did not tell; witness never told Mrs. Swan, and was afraid to tell her mother till she made her; would not have told at all had not her mother threatened to beat her; her mother was drunk at the time, and was frequently drunk; witness told Mrs. Ryan, prisoner’s wife, when she came into the house, and prisoner left her.  Had never told any person that prisoner did not complete the offence.  In order to further test the accuracy of the witness’s present evidence as to some of the circumstances of the case, and the day on which the assault took place, Mr. Purefoy put in her evidence at the police office; in that evidence she thought the day was Friday, the same day she went to Mrs. Ryan’s, but now she was positive it was Saturday, the day after she went there.  She was re-examined by the Attorney-General on this point, and others.
   Mrs. Watson, mother of Mary Ann Ponter, noticed something wrong with her daughter when bringing her home from Mrs. Swan’s, but it was a fortnight after before she found out what had occurred; witness believed her daughter was between twelve and thirteen years old.  Cross-examined: Witness was not living with her husband, nor was he the father of the girl.
   Mr. Purefoy addressed the jury for the defence, fully admitting the almost unnatural nature of the offence charged against the prisoner, a man of advanced years; but contending that the evidence adduced was not of a character the jury could rely on, so that he was satisfied they would find themselves able to acquit the prisoner.  And in order the more completely to prove to them the unsatisfactory nature of the evidence of the girl, he should call the medical gentlemen who examined her, and who, although subpoenaed on the part of the crown, had not been called for the prosecution.  And if those gentlemen should satisfy their minds that rape itself had not been, could not have been, committed on the girl, what became of the rest of her testimony; for if one part was undoubtedly false, what part could they rely on as true?  The learned gentlemen went into different parts of the evidence to prove the incredible nature of Mary Ann Ponter’s testimony, and the discrepancies in it.  He called as witnesses Dr. Michael M’Cartney and Dr. William Wilton, who deposed that they together examined Mary Ann Ponter’s person at the time the case was under examination at the police-office, and were both quite positive that no rape had taken place; if she said a rape had taken place it must be false.

   The Attorney-General  replied.

   The jury retired at a quarter past two o’clock, and had not returned when the court adjourned at half-past six.  At nine o’clock, when the court re-assembled, the jury were called, but stated that they had not been able to agree on their verdict, and there being no prospect of their agreeing, they were discharged, and Ryan was remanded.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/908, 16/03/1853.

Monday, March 14, 1853.  
DISCHARGE ON BAIL.  -  At a later period of the day, on the application of Mr. PUREFOY, not opposed by the Attorney General, his Honor directed the discharge of STEPHEN RYAN, charged with assault on MARY ANN PONTER with intent, on bail to appear at the next Circuit Court, himself in £200, and two sureties in £100 each.   [see also 11/909, 19/03/1853: letter from Junius re Jury, p. 4]
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/910, 23/03/1853

ATTEMPT TO COMMIT A RAPE.---On the 2nd instant a man named Thomas Clarke, who goes by the soubriquet of Ruggy, entered the house of a man named Martin, at a place called Gragin, near Warialda.  Martin was absent at his work, and the villain attempted to commit a rape upon his wife, Joanna Martin, and to rob the hut, but the woman beat him off, and he fled, supposed to have gone towards the Darling Downs.  He is a man about thirty years of age, much pock-pitted, five feet five inches in height, native of Ireland.  He wore a blue frock, fustian trousers, and a br[??] hat.  Empire.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/912, 30/03/1853

SYDNEY NEWS.

… Easter Monday.

The Police-office was open for a short time, but nothing which could with decency be postponed was enquired into.

A man named Benson was committed to take his trial at the Criminal Court, for an attempt to commit a rape upon his own aunt.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/914, 06/04/1853

ASSAULT.---Yesterday Edward Clifford appeared before the bench, charged with assaulting Honora Collier, at West Maitland, on the 29th March.  Mr. Turner appeared for the complainant.  The defendant, who admitted having struck one blow only, of the several charged, and that under great provocation, was committed for trial at the ensuing Quarter Sessions, but admitted to bail.  [see 11/916, 13/04/1853]
Exposure.---Yesterday William Frances appeared before the bench, charged with indecent exposure, in High-street, West Maitland, on the 31st March.  Constable Josias Troubridge having deposed to the facts, the defendant was convicted, and fined £5 and costs, or in default one month’s imprisonment.

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  Wednesday, [?th] April. Before the Chief Justice. 
Sim Lac, otherwise Sam Lang, a Chinaman, was indicted for having, on the 28th January last, committed an unnatural offence upon the person of James Rundle Harkness, a boy of twelve years of age.  Guilty.  His Honor said he could not reconcile it with his conscience to sentence the prisoner to death under the circumstances.  He had only recently arrived in the colony, and probably knew not the heinous nature of the offence of which he had been convicted.  Had he been here for several years, he (the learned judge) should have felt far otherwise.  The should therefore direct sentence of death to be recorded, and would recommend that the prisoner be sent to Cockatoo Island for seven years.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/915, 09/04/1853

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.---This court opened on Monday, April 4, before the Chief Justice.

Joseph Barber was indicted for abduction of Ann Cannon, a girl under sixteen years of age, from the custody of her father, Isaac Cannon, at Parramatta, on the 27th February.  The fact of the girl’s leaving Parramatta for Sydney in the same steamer with Barber was established, as also that of her living in Sydney for a fortnight in a house where Barber occasionally visited, but she said she left for Sydney of her own accord, and without then being asked by Barber, in consequence of quarrels with her father.  By direction of his Honor the jury returned a verdict of not guilty.

Before Mr. Justice Therry.
John Benson was indicted for assaulting Jane Benson, on the 4th April, at Rushcutter’s Bay, with intent to ravish her.  The prisoner in this case was nephew to the late husband of the prosecutrix, and had been in the habit of acquaintanceship with her, and lived close to her at Rushcutter’s Bay.  On the afternoon of the 4th April, he went to the house of prosecutrix, and lay down drunk on the sofa.  About five o’clock, in consequence of remonstrances from the prosecutrix, he went away.  About ten o’clock she awoke, and found prisoner in bed with her, attempting to violate her person.  The prisoner, in defence, stated that he was in search of his wife, who had robbed him, and was out on the spree, and who was in the habit of resorting to the house of prosecutrix.  The jury returned a verdict of guilty of a common assault, and recommended him to mercy.  Remanded for sentence.  [see 11/916, 13/04/1853, p.4]
ASSAULT WITH INTENT.---Richard Wade was yesterday committed by Mr. Dowling to take his trial at the criminal Court, to be held in June next, for having, on last Saturday night, assaulted with intent to violate an interesting and intelligent child of about thirteen years of age.  The evidence of the attempt was most conclusive.  Dr. Rutter, Police Surgeon, deposed that, having examined the girl, he found that she had not been in the slightest degree injured.  Providentially the child had a boil on the lower part of her back, and the cloth or bandages used to secure a cataplasm prevented the prisoner from effecting his brutal purpose.  Herald, 5th April.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/916, 13/04/1853

MAITLAND QUARTER SESSIONS.

This Court opened on Monday, …

ASSAULT.

George Edward Clifford was indicted for assaulting Nora Collier, at Maitland, on the 29th March, 1853, with intent to do bodily harm.  In a second count he was indicted for a common assault.

   Mr. Purefoy appeared for the defence.

   The witnesses called were Nora Collier, Sarah Hancock, and Dr. Alfred Oke Edye.

   Mrs. Collier deposed that on that day while she and Mrs. Clifford, the wife of the prisoner, were having some words about a money claim which she made on Mrs. Clifford, the prisoner came up to her as she stood in the door of a house, and struck her a blow on the face with his fist, knocking her into the house; as she was rising he knocked her down again; she was again rising when he struck her a third time, knocking her back against a table, and she fell; he then kicked her on the body with great violence, leaving marks on her body.  She bled very much, and was attended by Dr. Edye, being ill for some days.  This witness was cross-examined by Mr. Purefoy at great length, and admitted having used gross language to Mrs. Clifford, but denied having struck her; she denied also that she was drunk, although she admitted taking four glasses of liquor that day. – Mrs. Hancock saw the affair from a little distance, and saw prisoner strike the first blow, and afterwards heard some noise in the house, as if a table moved; shortly after prisoner came out, and Mrs. Collier close after him; Mrs. Collier was covered with blood, which was flowing from her face. – Dr. Edye found Mrs. Collier’s face cut, on the nose, as if from a sharp blow, and got women to examine her body for alleged bruises, but did not examine it himself.
   In defence, Mr. Purefoy admitted that prisoner struck one blow in the face, having been greatly provoked by previous ill-treatment of his wife by Mrs. Collier, who had used most gross language to her.  He could not deny that an assault was committed, but he contended that nothing was shown by the evidence to warrant the conclusion of intention to do bodily harm; nothing in fact was proved by the witness, Mrs. Hancock, beyond a passionate blow, greatly regretted afterwards by the prisoner himself.

   The jury retired for a quarter of an hour, and returned with a verdict of guilty of common assault.  The prisoner was remanded for sentence.

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT. – Thursday April 7 (Before the Chief Justice.)

John Benson, convicted of a common assault on Jane Benson, his aunt, but strongly recommended to mercy, was sentenced to six months’ imprisonment in Darlinghurst Gaol.

MAITLAND QUARTER SESSIONS.

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 13, 1853

SENTENCES.

George Edward Clifford, convicted on Tuesday of assaulting Nora Collier, being called up for sentence, urged in mitigation that on the day preceding the assault Mrs. Collier had violently assaulted his wife, snatched the baby from her arms, and dashed it on the floor; and on that day again renewed her attack, trying to break in his back door to get at his wife; that his wife having in vain tried to get Mr. Collier to come and take off his wife then sent for him, and he ran to the spot and in his passion knocked Mrs. Collier down.  He called on Mr. Samuel Cohen, his employer, for a character, and Mr. Cohen not only gave him a very high character for trustworthiness, and steady and quiet conduct, but described Mrs. Collier as a woman of the most violent character, entirely beyond the control of her husband.  Clifford was sentenced to six weeks’ imprisonment, and to pay a fine of £10.  
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/919, 23/04/1853

INDECENT CONDUCT.---On Wednesday Daniel Brown and Catherine Robes were brought before the bench, charged with indecent conduct, at Morpeth, on the 19th instant.  Constables William and Thomas Clifton described the grossly indecent conduct of the defendants, in the tap-room of a public-house.  The defendants were convicted, and sentenced each to three months’ imprisonment, with hard labour.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/929, 28/05/1853

EXPOSURE.---Yesterday John Rafferty appeared before the bench, charged by constable Peter Naylor with indecent exposure, in the public street, at Hinton, on the 23rd instant.  Constables Naylor and John Little having deposed to the facts, and that they had to remove Rafferty from the spot, Rafferty said he was overcome by a glass of liquor, taken by the order of a medical man.  The bench convicted him, and sentenced him to two months’ imprisonment.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/933, 11/06/1853

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.

Monday, June 5.  Before the Chief Justice.

John Flannery was indicted for committing a rape on Mary Martin, at Liverpool, on the 17th April, and William Fitzgerald was indicted as an accessory.  Mary Martin, and her husband, an old man, were returning home together that evening, when the two prisoners came up, and while one seized Martin and threw him to the ground, the other seized and ravished his wife; the prisoners then changed places, the second ravishing Mrs. Martin, while the first prevented Martin from rising.  The defence offered by Mr. Holroyd was want of identification.  The jury found both prisoners guilty, and they were both sentenced to be hung.

Tuesday, June 7.  ??

Before Mr. Justice Therry.

Jeremiah Sullivan was indicted for committing an indecent assault on a child named Martha Yates, at Grafton, on the 3rd March.  Guilty; eighteen months on the roads.

John Lynch was indicted for assaulting Mary Myers, on the 18th April, at Sydney, with intent to commit a rape.  This was the case where the assaulted woman was rescued by two young men named Hanlon.  Guilty; fourteen months’ imprisonment, with hard labour.

Thomas Smith was indicted for wounding in a grievous manner his wife, Catherine Smith.  On his return home that night at ten o’clock, Smith dragged his wife out of bed, and beat her about the head with a candlestick, so cruelly that her life was in danger for some time, and she had lost the sight of one eye.  The defence was that the wife’s conduct was bad, and that Smith had, without avail, tried to detach her from bad associates.  Guilty; six years on the roads, the first two years in irons.
ASSAULT WITH INTENT, &C.---Frederick Ellard was placed at the bar, charged with assaulting a married woman, named Ann Calvert, with intent.  Mr. Roberts appeared for the prisoner.  Mrs. Calvert stated that between eight and nine o’clock, on Saturday night, she was in George-street, looking out for a friend of hers.  She knew the prisoner, who was a married man; he accosted her in the street, and invited her to come to his home, and take a cup of tea with his wife; he took her to a public house, and treated her to a glass of rum; he then led her some by-way, and assaulted her in a criminal manner.  He threatened to drown her unless she complied with his desires, and upon her screaming our “murder” he pushed her into a waterhole.  He then went away, and returned to her with some dry clothes to put on as her own were wetted.  She then went home with him to his house, and told his wife how he had served her.  She applied on Monday for the warrant against the prisoner.  Prosecutrix’s husband is absent at the diggings.  The magistrate at once dismissed the prisoner from custody.  Empire, June 8.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/938, 29/06.1853

RAPE ON A CHILD FOUR YEARS OLD.

John Barrett appeared before Messrs. Forbes and Fearon, J.P.s. to answer the above charge.  From the evidence adduced it appeared that the father of the child is a poor man, a widower, residing in Campbell-street, named William Blake.  Whilst absent from home, prisoner came to the house; and on Blake’s return, a woman named Oxley, who was at the house, hearing the child scream, went in and took her from the bed.  Blake coming in at the time dragged the prisoner out of the house; he was the worse for liquor, but could walk away.  Doctors Greenup and Bassett were examined, whose evidence with other, not fit for publication, clearly proved the case.  Prisoner made no defence, and was committed to take his trial at the Supreme Court, to be held in Sydney on the first August next.  Herald’s Parramatta Correspondent. [see 11/949, 06/0/1853]
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/941, 09/07/1853

CONDEMNED CRIMINALS.---The condemned convicts Flannery and Fitzgerald, who were sentenced to death at the last Criminal Sittings for rape, have been ordered for execution on the 19th instant.  Herald, July 6.  [see 11/933, 11/06/1853].

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/945, 23/07/1853

THE CONVICTS FLANNERY AND FITZGERALD.

We understand that these men, who were sentenced to death for rape at the last session of the Central Criminal Court, have been reprieved, their sentences being commuted to 15 years’ hard labour on the roads.  We believe that the decision of the Executive Council, to whom the matter was referred by his Excellency the Governor- General, was come to in consequence of a representation addressed to his Excellency by the Speaker and several members of the Legislative Council, which also bore the signature of a number of highly respectable citizens, setting forth certain circumstances which tended to mitigate the heinousness of the crime. Herald, July 19.
HOUSEBREAKING. – ASSAULT WITH INTENT.

Henry Newcombe, a man of color, was yesterday brought before the police magistrate by Sergeant M’Gee on the above charges.  Mrs. Court, residing in Kent-street deposed that she had several times seen the prisoner; on retiring to bed on Sunday night she locked the door of her house and closed her windows; the window of  the bedroom looked towards the street; it was closed but not fastened down in any way; she, her husband, and two daughters, slept in the same room; between one and two o’clock on Monday morning she was awoke by the call of her elder daughter, nearly thirteen years of age, who sais there was a stranger in bed with her; witness’ husband arose to get a light, when they found the prisoner in bed with their daughter; her husband dragged him out of the bed, and struck him several blows, but let him go out.  Prisoner was dressed then as now, in blue Guernsey frock, with trousers.  She gave immediate information to Serjeant M’Gee, who apprehended the prisoner in the course of the forenoon of Monday.  Mr. Court and his daughter having given similar evidence, the prisoner was committed to take his trial at the Central Criminal Court, to be held on the 1st proximo.  Herald, July 20.  [see 11/949, 06/08/1853]
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/949, 06/08/1853

GRAFTON.

A most daring and cruel outrage was perpetrated by the blacks on Sunday, the 24th ultimo.  A party of blacks went to one of Mr. Small’s sheep stations, within seven miles of Grafton, and finding no one in the hut but a poor helpless woman, three of the party dragged her out of the hut, and two stood over her with null nullas in their hands while the third used the poor helpless creature as he thought proper.  Five others plundered the hut, taking with them tea, sugar, flour, and blankets, and whatever was worth their notice.

   Such outrages as this, as well as murder, have been committed on the two stations nearest to Grafton, with impunity, by these savages, because they are not punished for their deeds.  They committed a similar act to this within one mile of Grafton, and another within eight miles; at all these places ravishing the women, and robbing the huts.  Now, the ends of justice are defeated from two causes.  First, the constable will not go out without a warrant naming each of these savages; and how is this poor woman, who lately arrived in the colony, to know their names or language.  She cannot therefore obtain a warrant.  On the other hand, even if she knew their names, she is bound by agreement to remain as hutkeeper, and her husband as shepherd.  When the employer hears of this outrage on his station, he may indeed be willing to do everything in his power to serve the poor victim, and punish the aggressors, but he is short-handed, and cannot get two men to go to his station while this poor woman and her husband are going to a magistrate to give their depositions---providing they could describe these blacks.  And ten to one if a magistrate could be found at the time.  But if we had a paid magistrate, living in the townshop, he might proceed to the hut where the outrage has been committed, there to take the necessary depositions, and fill up a warrant at once and hand it to his orderly, who might at once proceed to the camp of the aggressors.
   This is not the only great benefit a police magistrate would be to out district.  We see men for weeks together in the lockup, punished on the one hand, and on the other supported out of the public funds, all for want of a full bench.  So also masters and servants are in many cases put to a great inconvenience, from the same cause; the master may wish to punish his servant, and the servant may require his wages and his discharge, but there is not a full bench, and there is no paid magistrate in constant attendance.  We can find no fault with our present J.P.s., but we have not enough of them.  Grafton, July 27, 1853.
CENTRAL C RIMINAL COURT.
This court opened on Monday, August 1, before the Chief Justice.

John Barrett was indicted for having, at Parramatta, on the 17th June, committed an indecent assault upon Ellen Jane Blake, a child four and a half years old.  The father of the child, who appeared drunk, gave his evidence in a most disgraceful manner, and with the most palpable prevarication.  The Chief Justice told the witness he considered him a great ruffian, and committed him to gaol for a month for contempt of court.  The case, in course of progress, discovered that the father of the child, the woman he lived with, a lodger in the house, her daughter, and the prisoner, were all connected together by drink and debauchery.  The prisoner was found guilty, and sentenced to three years on the roads.

   Henry Newcombe, a man of color, was indicted for assaulting Elizabeth Court, at Sydney, on the 17th July.  The prisoner, it appears, at 11p.m., on the night mentioned, scaled the window, and got into the bed between the two daughters of Mr. Court, and commenced to take improper liberties with the prosecutor, an interesting looking girl, thirteen years of age.  She cried out, which awoke her father, who slept in the same room, and on awaking and lighting a candle, he discovered the prisoner between the blankets, and dressed.  He pulled him out of bed, and struck him.  Guilty; two years’ imprisonment.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/952, 17/08/1853

MAITLAND CIRCUIT COURT.

Monday, August 15.

RECOGNISANCES DISCHARGED.

The recognisances of Stephen Ryan, to appear to take his trial a second time on a charge of indecent assault on a child, were discharged, on the application of Mr. Purefoy, the Solicitor General having decided there was not sufficient evidence to put him on trial again.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/957, 03/09/1853

CHARGE OF DETAINING A DAUGHTER.

Yesterday, Mary Ann Burr appeared before the bench, charged by Bridget Barry with illegally detaining her daughter, Mary Ryan, a child of nearly nine years old, against her consent.  Mr. O’Meagher appeared for the complainant.  It appeared that Mrs. Barry’s present husband does not live with her, and that he has at different times taken away her two children from her, and had recently placed this child under Mr. Burr’s care for three years, to be clothed and schooled, as Miss Burr herself told Mrs. Barry, on her demanding the child.  Miss Burr now produced a written document to that effect, signed by Joseph Barry, handing over the child to her father and herself.  The bench said the mother was the natural guardian of her own child, and Miss Burr must deliver the child up to Mrs. Barry.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/958, 07/09/1853

BATHURST CIRCUIT COURT. – Before Mr. Justice Dickinson.  This court opened on Monday August 22.

William Sturgeon pleaded guilty to a charge of indecently assaulting a female child, with intent; he was sentenced to three years on the roads.

Abraham Buckland was indicted for assaulting Emma Rodwell, with intent, at Queen Charlotte’s Vale, on the 19th July.  The prisoner assaulted the girl, who is 15 years old, in her father’s house, while he was absent, and threatened her with a knife; her father’s return saved her from his violence.  Guilty; two years imprisonment with hard labour, and then to enter into sureties to keep the peace.

James Egan was indicted for committing a rape on Ann Acourt, a married woman, at Millamarra, [???]  Mrs. Acourt swore positively to the commission of the offence, her husband being at the time away at the diggings, but it appeared she did not speak of the outrage for several days.  Mr. Holroyd mainly rested the defence on this, as impugning her testimony.  Not guilty; discharged.

Tuesday, August 23.

John Ryan was indicted for assaulting Margaret Kelly, with intent, at the Meroo, on the 4th July.  Ryan and another man called at Mrs. Kelly’s hut for refreshment; her husband was away, and she sent her daughter out for some water, when Ryan, who was intoxicated, assaulted her, first in her bedroom, and again outside, her daughter coming up during this latter assault.  Guilty; two years’ imprisonment, with hard labour, and then to enter into sureties to keep the peace.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/960, 14/09/1853

GOULBURN CIRCUIT COURT.---This court was opened on Monday, the 5th September, before Mr. Justice Therry.

Thursday, Sept. 8.

George Stephens was indicted for the unlawful abduction of Susan Potter, a girl under sixteen years of age, at Cavan, on the 13th June.  Guilty; two years’ imprisonment. Abridged from the S.M. Herald.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/964, 28/09/1853

ASSAULT ON THE HIGH ROAD.

A female residing at Waverley, about five o’clock on Monday afternoon was, when walking homeward from Paddington, near Hongh’s Mills, overtaken by a man who compelled her to go into the bush, where he assaulted her until the sound of an approaching carriage warned the ruffian of impending danger, and he slunk away.  A description of the fellow is in the hands of the police, and it is to be hoped he will ere long be in custody.  Herald, Sept. 22.
MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/967, 10/08/1853

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.---This court opened on Monday, October 3, before Mr. Justice Dickinson.

William Thompson was indicted for assaulting John Evan Sheffield, with intent to commit an unnatural crime.  Not guilty; discharged.
Tuesday, October 4.  Before the Chief Justice.
Stephen Alexander, a native of Cephalonia, was indicted for committing an unnatural offence upon the high seas, on board the barque Kinnear.  Guilty of assault with intent; two years’ imprisonment, with hard labour.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/973, 29/10/1853

INDECENT EXPOSURE.---On Thursday Owen Cusack was brought before the bench, charged with indecent exposure of his person in High-street, West Maitland, on Tuesday.  It appeared from the evidence of Mr. Michael Lester to have been a most gross case of wilful exposure, accompanied with disgusting expressions.  Cusack was convicted, and sentenced to three months’ imprisonment with hard labour.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/980, 23/11/1853

CHARGE OF INDECENT ASSAULT UPON A CHILD. --- On Monday an old man named Thomas Harracks was brought before the bench, charged with indecently assaulting a little girl of four and a half years old, named Ann Kingston, on [crease in paper, line missing] given was  not complete enough to warrant the bench in committing Harracks for trial, although it tended to prove that he had twice behaved very indecently to the little girl.  After severely reprimanding Harracks, the bench discharged him.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/980, 23/11/1853

BRUTAL ASSAULT.---Evan Evans, described as a seafaring man, was yesterday brought before the police magistrate and Alderman Allen, charged with having committed an assault upon his wife.  Mrs. Evans deposed that she was married to the man before the Court in June last; within a month after that occurrence he beat her, which kind of treatment she had frequently experienced since.  On last Tuesday she was out for a day’s work, and when, at night she went home, she took with her a quart of ale for her husband’s supper; he was not at home, but she being fatigued went to bed, covering the jug containing the beer; when he came home he found the beer, and because it was covered accused her of wishing to keep it for her own exclusive use; there was no other reason given by him for his displeasure; he cut a piece of the swing rope from his hammock (it was produced in Court, a tanned rope of the thickness of a finger), and with this he beat her---naked as she was, taking off the bed clothes---about her body until he was tired; she bled profusely.  Dr. Rutter deposed that he had examined the body of the complainant; he found her back covered with bruises, from the shoulder downwards it was impossible to put a finger on a spot not bruised; nor was the abdomen free from bruises; he never saw such a spectacle in the whole course of his experience; there was, however, no danger to be apprehended to the woman’s life.  The man was committed for trial.  Bail refused.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/980, 26/11/1853  [Mis-numbered]

VAGRANCY.---On Thursday Thomas Harracks, the old man who was on Monday discharged for want of evidence on a charge of indecently assaulting a child, was brought before the bench, charged with vagrancy.  Constable Kedwell deposed that Harracks, who is a rather short stout man, walking with the aid of a stick, had been loitering about the town, begging, and doing no work, for some days, and that on Wednesday night at a late hour, he found him lying under a dray just off High-street.  The bench convicted him, and sentenced him to one month’s imprisonment, with hard labour.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/982, 03/12/1853

RAPE.

On Friday a man, named John Jones, was fully committed at the district court to take his trial for a rape upon the person of Charlotte Mills, a girl under 13 years of age.  The investigation took place late in the afternoon, and with closed doors.  Herald, Nov. 22.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/984, 10/12/1853

CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  This Court opened on Monday, December 5.  Before the Chief Justice.

John Walters was indicted for bestiality, committed at Cook’s River, on the 15th October.  Guilty of the attempt; three years’ imprisonment, and then to enter into sureties to be of good behaviour.

MAITLAND MERCURY, 11/985, 14/12/1853

William Wells, a clerk in the Audit Office, was this day committed to take his trial for an assault upon Miss Elizabeth Lane.  The prosecutrix is sister of Mr. Henry Lane, chief clerk in the Audit Office, and both Lane and Wells are neighbours as well as fellow clerks, and their families on terms of intimacy.  Mrs. Lane (wife of Henry Lane) is in delicate health, on account of which a few days before St. Andrew’s Day (30th ult.) she left home (Paddington) to spend a few days at Balmain; Nov. 30 was a Government holiday, of which Mr. Lane took advantage to see his wife, remaining there all night, the complainant, his sister, the meanwhile being alone at his residence; Miss Lane in the evening went to visit Mrs. Wells, and on leaving Mrs. W. desired her husband (the defendant) to see her (Miss Lane) home; he did so; and as soon as both were inside the house he suddenly threw one arm round her neck, and so held her while he kissed her repeatedly, his other hand being upon her bosom; notwithstanding the utmost resistance and discouragement this was twice afterwards repeated, and he only left the house when she seemed to be going away to claim the protection of a brother of the defendant’s, who resided nearby.  Bail in £100 and two sureties in £50 each was allowed for defendant’s appearance at the Supreme Court.
CENTRAL CRIMINAL COURT.  Thursday, Dec. 8.

Before the Chief Justice. Friday, Dec. 9.

Remanded: … and Evan Evans indicted for a serious assault, … until the next Criminal Sessions.
